

Motivic decompositions of families with Tate fibers: smooth and singular cases.

Mattia Cavicchi, Frédéric Déglise, Johannes Nagel

▶ To cite this version:

Mattia Cavicchi, Frédéric Déglise, Johannes Nagel. Motivic decompositions of families with Tate fibers: smooth and singular cases.. International Mathematics Research Notices, 2023, 2023 (16), pp.14239-14289. 10.1093/imrn/rnac223 . hal-03014185v2

HAL Id: hal-03014185 https://hal.science/hal-03014185v2

Submitted on 4 Jan 2022

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

MOTIVIC DECOMPOSITIONS OF FAMILIES WITH TATE FIBERS: SMOOTH AND SINGULAR CASES

M. CAVICCHI, F. DÉGLISE, AND J. NAGEL

ABSTRACT. We apply Wildeshaus's theory of motivic intermediate extensions to the motivic decomposition conjecture, formulated by Deninger-Murre and Corti-Hanamura. We first obtain a general motivic decomposition for the Chow motive of an arbitrary smooth projective family $f: X \to S$ whose geometric fibers are Tate. Using Voevodsky's motives with rational coefficients, the formula is valid for an arbitrary regular base S, without assuming the existence of a base field or even of a prime integer ℓ invertible on S. This result, and some of Bondarko' ideas, lead us to a generalized formulation of Corti-Hanamura's conjecture. Secondly we establish the existence of the motivic decomposition when $f: X \to S$ is a projective quadric bundle over a characteristic 0 base, which is either sufficiently general or whose discriminant locus is a normal crossing divisor. This provides a motivic lift of the Bernstein-Beilinson-Deligne decomposition in this setting.

Contents

1. Introduction	2
Plan of the paper	8
Acknowledgements	8
Notations and conventions	8
2. Smooth Artin-Tate motives and motivic decompositions	10
2.1. Gluing and weights on Beilinson motives	10
2.2. Motivic decompositions	11
2.3. Smooth Artin motives	12
2.4. Weights on smooth Artin-Tate motives	15
2.5. First decomposition theorem	16
3. Recall and complement on Wildeshaus's motivic intermediate extensions	21
3.1. Semi-primary categories and motivic intermediate extensions.	21
3.2. Semi-primary categories of Chow motives.	22
3.3. Compatibility with realizations and conservativity	27
4. Motivic decompositions of projective quadric bundles	28
4.1. Corti-Hanamura decomposition of general quadrics	28
4.2. Corti-Hanamura decomposition of quadric bundles with normal	
crossing discriminant	32
References	35

1. INTRODUCTION

An important conjecture in the theory of motives is the *nilpotency conjecture*. It is related to the functor

$$T: \operatorname{CHM}(k) \to \operatorname{HM}(k)$$

from the category of Chow motives to the category of homological motives (motives modulo homological equivalence, for a choice of Weil cohomology theory e.g. Betti cohomology if $k = \mathbb{C}$.) This functor is full but not faithful. The nilpotency conjecture states that if M is a Chow motive and M_{hom} the corresponding motive modulo homological equivalence (sometimes called the Grothendieck motive), the kernel of the ring homomorphism

$$\operatorname{End}(M) \to \operatorname{End}(M_{\operatorname{hom}})$$

is a nilpotent ideal. If we take M = h(X), the Chow motive of a smooth projective variety X over k, the nilpotency conjecture N(X) states that the kernel of the homomorphism

$$\operatorname{Corr}^0(X, X) \to \operatorname{End}(H^*(X, \mathbb{Q}))$$

from the ring of correspondences of degree zero to the endomorphism ring of $H^*(X)$ is a nilpotent ideal. (Note that if X has pure dimension d, the left hand side is the Chow group $\operatorname{CH}^d(X \times X)_{\mathbb{Q}}$, the right hand side is isomorphic to $H^{2d}(X \times X, \mathbb{Q})$ by Poincaré duality and the above map is just the cycle class map.) The nilpotency conjecture has important consequences. First of all, it implies that the functor T is conservative (i.e., it detects isomorphisms), hence essentially injective (nonexistence of *phantom motives*). The nilpotency conjecture is also related to the standard conjecture C(X), the Künneth conjecture, which states that the Künneth components $p_i \in H^*(X \times X, \mathbb{Q})$) of the diagonal are algebraic (i.e., they are in the image of the cycle class map). Jannsen proved that conjectures C(X) and N(X)imply the Chow–Künneth conjecture CK(X), i.e., the Künneth projectors lift to a set of mutually orthogonal projectors $\pi_i \in \operatorname{Corr}^0(X, X)$ ($i = 0, \ldots, 2d$) such that

$$\Delta_X = \sum_{i=0}^{2d} \pi_i$$

in $\operatorname{CH}_d(X \times X) \otimes \mathbb{Q}$ and such that π_i depends only on the motive modulo homological equivalence. In this case the motive of X admits a *Chow–Künneth decomposition*

$$h(X) = \bigoplus_{i=0}^{2d} h^i(X)$$

with $h^i(X) = (X, \pi_i).$

The nilpotency conjecture is known to hold for finite-dimensional motives. This means in particular that isomorphisms between finite-dimensional Chow motives can be detected by passing to the corresponding homological motives. An application is the following result.

Theorem (Kimura, Vial). Assume k is an algebraically closed field of characteristic 0. Suppose that X is a smooth projective variety over k such that the Chow motive

h(X) is finite dimensional and such that $H^*(X)$ is algebraic (i.e, the rational cycle class maps $\operatorname{CH}^i(X)_{\mathbb{O}} \to H^{2i}(X, \mathbb{Q})$ are surjective for all i.). Then

$$h(X) = \bigoplus_{i} \mathbb{Q}(-i)^{b_{2i}}$$

is Tate (i.e., it is a direct sum of Lefschetz motives).

This result generalises a theorem of Jannsen and was observed by Vial [Via13b] and Kimura [Kim09] (in the case where one replaces h(X) by an arbitrary Chow motive M). It is a direct consequence of the conservativity of the homological realisation on finite-dimensional motives.¹

In this paper we consider possible generalisations of these results to the case of relative motives. In their fundamental work [CH00], Corti and Hanamura defined a category CHM(S) of relative Chow motives over a quasi-projective base scheme S defined over a field k, together with realisation functors

(R1)
$$\rho_B : \operatorname{CHM}(S) \to \operatorname{D}^b_c(S^{\operatorname{an}}, \mathbb{Q}),$$
$$\rho_\ell : \operatorname{CHM}(S) \to \operatorname{D}^b_c(S_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}, \mathbb{Q}_\ell)$$

where ρ_B (resp. ρ_ℓ) is the Betti (resp. ℓ -adic) realization functor associated to a given place $\sigma : k \to \mathbb{C}$ (resp. a prime ℓ invertible in k). Depending on the field k, we can use these two realisation interchangeably, so we let Q be either \mathbb{Q} in the first case, \mathbb{Q}_ℓ in the second.

In this setup, one works with proper morphisms $f: X \to S$ with X smooth and quasi-projective over k. Relative correspondences are elements of $CH_*(X \times_S X)$ and composition of correspondences is defined using refined Gysin homomorphisms. The relative analogue of the nilpotency conjecture states that the kernel of the map

$$\operatorname{Corr}^0_S(X, X) \to \operatorname{End}\left(Rf_*(Q_X)\right)$$

is a nilpotent ideal. (If X has dimension d the above map can be identified with the cycle class map $\operatorname{CH}_d(X \times_S X)_{\mathbb{Q}} \to H^{\operatorname{BM}}_{2d}(X \times_S X, \mathbb{Q})$ to Borel–Moore homology.) Corti and Hanamura have considered a relative analogue of the notion of Chow–Künneth decomposition.

The smooth case. Let us first consider the case where $f: X \to S$ is in addition smooth. According to Deligne's theorem, one gets a decomposition in $D_c^b(S, Q)$:

(D)
$$Rf_*(Q_X) \cong \bigoplus_i R^i f_*(Q_X)[-i].$$

One usually says that $h_S(X)$ admits a relative Chow-Künneth decomposition (in short CK-decomposition) if there exist relative motives $M_i \in \text{CHM}(S)$ such that $h_S(X) = \bigoplus_i M_i$ and $\rho(M_i) = Rf_*(Q_X)[-i]$ for all *i*.

After the seminal work of Voevodsky, finalized by Ayoub and Cisinski-Déglise, we now have at our disposal a complete formalism of constructible *rational mixed motives* $DM_c(S)$, where S is a very general base scheme (noetherian quasi-excellent),

¹If $H^*(X)$ is algebraic there exists a finite set of algebraic cycles $\{Z_i\}_{i \in I}, Z_i \in CH^{p_i}(X)$, whose cycles classes generate the cohomology. These cycles define a morphism of Chow motives $\alpha : \oplus_i \mathbb{Z}(-p_i) \to h(X)$ such that $T(\alpha)$ is an isomorphism, hence α is an isomorphism by conservativity.

satisfying the six functors formalism and Grothendieck-Verdier duality. Moreover, we also have triangulated realization functors:

(R2)
$$\rho_B : \mathrm{DM}_c(S, \mathbb{Q}) \to \mathrm{D}^b_c(S^{\mathrm{an}}, \mathbb{Q}),$$
$$\rho_\ell : \mathrm{DM}_c(S, \mathbb{Q}) \to \mathrm{D}^b_c(S_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}, \mathbb{Q}_l)$$

commuting with the six operations², where:

- ρ_B is the Betti realization functor, defined when S is a finite type k-scheme with a given complex place $\sigma: k \to \mathbb{C}$ ([Ayo10]);
- ρ_{ℓ} is the ℓ -adic realization functor, for a $\mathbb{Z}[1/\ell]$ -scheme S ([CD16, 7.2.24]).

Moreover, a key property of rational mixed motives is the existence of the so-called *Chow weight structure* constructed by Bondarko (see Theorem 2.1.2 for recall). One then defines the (pseudo-abelian monoidal) category CHM(S) of Chow motives over a scheme S as the weight 0 part of DM(S). Combining this definition with the realization functors (R2), one therefore get an extension of the Corti-Hanamura functors (R1) to more general base schemes.³

Our first theorem exploits this level of generality. It is the natural generalization of the theorem of Kimura-Vial stated before to the relative case. A first result in this direction was obtained by Vial in [Via13a, Thm. 4.2]. It states that if $f: X \to S$ is a flat morphism between k-varieties such that $\operatorname{CH}^i(X_s) \otimes \mathbb{Q} \cong \mathbb{Q}$ for all i and for all $s \in S(\Omega)$ (where Ω is a universal domain over k) then the relative motive $h_S(X)$ is a Tate motive. Our theorem extends this result in two directions. First we consider geometric fibers: this implies that we will get more general motives than Tate motives. Secondly, we work over an arbitrary regular base scheme S, with no assumption on the existence of a base field or of a prime ℓ invertible on S.⁴

Theorem A (see Theorem 2.5.8). Let S be a regular connected scheme with étale fundamental group π . Let $f: X \to S$ be a smooth proper morphism whose geometric fibers are Tate (i.e. the associated Chow motives are Tate). Then there exists an isomorphism of motives over S:

$$h_S(X) \simeq \bigoplus_{i \in I} \rho_!(V_i)(-n_i)[-2n_i]$$

where I is a finite set, V_i is a simple Artin Q-representation of π , n_i is a nonnegative integer and $\rho_!(V_i)$ is the rational motive naturally associated with V_i .

Moreover, the set $\{([V_i], n_i), i \in I\}$ where $[V_i]$ denotes the isomorphism class in the category of Artin representations $\operatorname{Rep}_{\mathbb{Q}}^{A}(\pi)$ of π is uniquely determined by the property that for any prime integer ℓ and any $n \geq 0$:

$$\mathbf{R}^{2n} f'_*(\mathbb{Q}_\ell) \simeq \bigoplus_{i \in I \mid n_i = n} V'_i \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{Q}_\ell(-n_i)$$

where f' and V'_i are pullbacks of f and V_i along the open immersion $U[\ell^{-1}] \to U$, and $V'_i \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{Q}_{\ell}$ denotes the \mathbb{Q}_{ℓ} -sheaf represented by V'_i .

 $^{^2\}mathrm{for}$ quasi-excellent finite dimensional base schemes, and morphisms of finite type between them

³Indeed, when S is quasi-projective over a perfect field, it is proved in [Jin16] that the weight 0 part of $DM_c(S)$ is equivalent to the category defined by Corti and Hanamura.

⁴This is the first example of a BCH-decomposition: see Def. 2.2.3 and the following paragraph for further discussion of its properties.

In the above statement, the functor ρ_1 sends any étale sheaf over S to its image in the category $DM_c(S)$. We show that when restricted to the bounded derived category of Artin π -representations, it induces an equivalence of categories with the full subcategory $\mathrm{DM}^{\mathcal{A}\mathrm{T}}_{\mathrm{sm}}(S,\mathbb{Q})$ of smooth Artin-Tate motives in $\mathrm{DM}_{c}(S)$ (Prop. (2.3.4), extending a classical result of Voevodsky-Orgogozo (the case when S is the spectrum of a field). Hence, in particular, Theorem A shows that the naive generalisation of the theorem of Kimura-Vial to the relative situation is false: if $f: X \to S$ is a smooth, projective morphism such that $h(X_s)$ is finite dimensional and such that $H^*(X_s)$ is algebraic for all $s \in S$, the relative motive $h_S(X)$ does not necessarily decompose as a direct sum of relative Lefschetz motives⁵, since it is an object of a more general kind - an object of $\mathrm{DM}^{\mathcal{A}\mathrm{T}}_{\mathrm{sm}}(S,\mathbb{Q})$. This can be seen already on the topological level. If $f: X \to S$ is a smooth, projective morphism whose fibers have algebraic cohomology then the direct image sheaves $R^i f_* \mathbb{O}$ are local systems with finite monodromy, but they are not necessarily constant. A concrete example is given by smooth quadric fibrations of even relative dimension (Corollary 2.5.13). We have recorded in Example 2.5.14 some constructions of smooth proper quadrics over $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{Z})$, and more generally over rings of integers of number fields, to which our result applies; for rings of integers whose spectrum is non-simply connected, we give explicit cases where relative Artin-Tate motives with non-trivial monodromy actually appear.

The proof of Theorem A combines a "spreading-out" technique valid for constructible motives, a weight argument for (smooth) Artin-Tate motives (see in particular Thm. 2.4.3), and an extension argument based on Wildeshaus's analysis of weights and of minimal/intermediate extensions of pure motives. This first result relies on a new notion of *fair* extension (Def. 2.5.3) based on Wildeshaus's work. Note secondly that we rely on the proper base change theorem for étale torsion sheaves to check that the local systems have the required property for a fair extension to exist (see the end of the proof of Theorem 2.5.8).

The singular case. The general case is more complicated and involves the theory of perverse sheaves. Recall that this theory exists either in the analytical setting, or in the ℓ -adic étale one. So let us denote as above by Q either the field \mathbb{Q} or \mathbb{Q}_{ℓ} , intending that one uses sheaves on the associated analytical site in the first case, and étale ℓ -adic sheaves in the second.

When k is an algebraically closed field of characteristic zero or the separable closure of a finite field, the decomposition theorem of Beilinson-Bernstein-Deligne says that a decomposition of the form (D) still exists provided one replaces the canonical t-structure by the perverse one. Moreover, each perverse cohomology sheaf ${}^{p}Rf_{*}(Q_{X})$ is semi-simple in the perverse heart of $D_{c}^{b}(S)$. These two statements can be expressed by the existence of a *topological decomposition* in $D_{c}^{b}(S,Q)$

(BBD)
$$Rf_*(Q_X) = \bigoplus_{\lambda} j_{\lambda!*}(L_{\lambda})$$

where there exists an integer n_{λ} such that $L_{\lambda}[n_{\lambda}]$ is a simple local system on a smooth locally closed subscheme $j_{\lambda} : U_{\lambda} \subset X$ and $j_{\lambda!*}(L_{\lambda})$ denotes the *intermediate* extension (or intersection complex) defined in [BBD82a].⁶

⁵This statement is even false if one assumes that the fibers are homogeneous spaces as in [Iyer] ⁶ Note in particular that one deduces isomorphisms ${}^{p}Rf_{*}(Q_{X})[-n] \simeq \bigoplus_{\lambda|n_{\lambda}=n} j_{\lambda!*}(L_{\lambda})$ and:

(D')
$${}^{p}Rf_{*}(Q_{X}) \simeq \bigoplus_{n} {}^{p}R^{n}f_{*}(Q_{X})[-n].$$

According to [CH00, Th. 2], it is expected from the standard conjectures that the above decomposition should lift to the category of Chow motives. In other words, there should exist a *motivic decomposition* of the form

(1.0.0.a)
$$h_S(X) \simeq \bigoplus_{\lambda} M_{\lambda}$$

in the pseudo-abelian category $\operatorname{CHM}(S)$, and such that $\rho_B(M_\lambda) = j_{\lambda!*}(L_\lambda)$. Here again, using the more general definition of Chow motives as pure motives of weight 0 in $\operatorname{DM}(S)$, it is not unreasonable to assume that such motivic decompositions exist when we only assume that $f: X \to S$ is proper and X is regular, without assuming that S is defined over a field. Following ideas of Bondarko in [Bon15], this can in fact be deduced from the existence of a suitable motivic t-structure. We refer the interested reader to Definition 2.2.3. Let us also recall that Theorem A gives plenty of examples of such a generalized decomposition.

The existence of motivic decompositions, in the presence of singularities of f, has only been obtained in a few cases. First by Gordon, Hanamura, Murre in [GHM03, Th. I in §2] and then by Nagel and Saito in [NS09], for conic bundles over a surface (see also [Bou16]). Nonetheless, the conjectural existence of such decompositions, in the form (1.0.0.a), suggests a notable theoretical fact, which was of course already intended by Beilinson's conjectures: there should exist a lift of the (algebraic) intersection complexes of [BBD82b], and more generally of the intermediate extension operator $j_{!*}$. This is especially important in the motivic part of the Langlands program, where the first construction of a Chow motive realizing to intersection cohomology was provided by Scholl in [Sch90], in the case of modular curves. In recent years, Wildeshaus has started a systematic study of motivic intermediate extensions based on the formalism of DM(S) and Bondarko's weight structures. He and his students successfully applied these methods to many families of higher dimensional Shimura varieties, the most recent one being the case of *genus two Hilbert-Siegel varieties* treated by the first author in [Cav19]. The most general construction applies to some relative motives of "abelian type" (see [Wil17]).

Wildeshaus's techniques have never been applied to the motivic decomposition problem. This is the original motivation of our paper. In our second main theorem, we adapt the construction of *loc. cit.* to extend the result of Nagel and Saito to two types of projective quadric bundles, eventually with singular fibers, and over arbitrary characteristic 0 bases.

Theorem B (see Cor. 4.1.7, Cor. 4.2.5). Let S be a scheme over a field of characteristic 0, and $f: X \to S$ be a projective quadric bundle such that one of the following conditions holds:

(1) the discriminant of X/S is a normal crossing divisor in X;

(2) X/S is regular (which means "generic" in a precise sense, see Def. 4.1.4). We consider the stratification $\{S_{\phi}\}$ of S given respectively by

- (1) the intersections of the irreducible components of the discriminant (see Def.
 - 4.2.2) in case (1);
- (2) corank (see after Def. 4.1.4) in case (2).

Then $h_S(X)$ admits a motivic decomposition

$$h_S(X) \simeq \bigoplus_{i,\phi} j_{\phi!*}(\rho_!(V_{i,\phi})(-n_{i,\phi}))[-2n_{i,\phi}]$$

with $V_{i,\phi}$ a simple Artin representation of $\pi_1(S_{\phi})$.

Let us describe the strategy of proof and the difficulties that arise when trying to adapt the construction of [Wil17] to our situation. First recall that Wildeshaus's construction, given a stratification $\Phi = \{S_{\phi}\}$ of the base S, consists in constructing a glued subcategory of Chow motives starting from constant local systems upstairs. Based on a criterion of *semi-primality* (see Def. 3.1.1), this glueing procedure guarantees the existence of the functors $j_{!*}$ when j is the immersion between (union of) strata. We have two difficulties to circumvent in order to apply this construction.

The first one is that we need to consider more general local systems, as it is known from the work of Beauville that in the case of an algebraically closed base field, *Prym motives* should appear in the motives of quadric bundles. As these correspond to an étale cover of degree 2,⁷ we are led to consider smooth Artin-Tate motives as natural *motivic* local systems. But then, in order to adapt Wildeshaus's construction, one needs to control the degeneracy of smooth Artin-Tate motives, as was already done in the smooth case, in the proof of Theorem A. Fortunately, by *purity of the branch locus* we need only to control the degeneracy in codimension 1. Then it is sufficient to assume that the smooth Artin-Tate motives are tamely ramified to ensure sufficient regularity of the degenerations; see the proof of Theorem 3.2.4.

The second difficulty is that to perform the glueing construction, Wildeshaus has to assume that the closures of strata of $\{S_{\phi}\}$ are smooth. This assumption is satisfied in the case (1), but not in the case (2) of regular quadric bundles. In order to deal with these singularities, we have to construct a suitable resolution of the strata, $\mathfrak{S} \to \Phi$, in such a way that we can control the pushforward of the tamely ramified smooth Artin-Tate motives appearing on the (abstract) blow-ups. This is achieved by considering the geometry of quadrics, more precisely by using the flag variety associated with the quadratic vector bundle of the regular quadric bundle. This is where the assumption *regular* appears; see Proposition 4.1.3 and Lemma 4.1.5.

Then Wildeshaus's glueing construction goes through and one obtains a suitable category of tamely ramified (\mathfrak{S}/Φ) -constructible Artin-Tate motives $\mathrm{DM}_{\mathrm{tr}}^{\mathrm{AT}}(\mathfrak{S}/\Phi)$ (see Definition 3.2.7). Moreover, this category satisfies the following good properties:

- Bondarko's weight structure restricts to this subcategory. The corresponding weight 0 part, denoted by $\operatorname{AT}_{\operatorname{tr}}(\mathfrak{S}/\Phi)$, is a pseudo-abelian subcategory of $\operatorname{CHM}(S)$ which is semi-primary (Theorem 3.2.10).
- The functor $j_{!*}$ exists, for j an inclusion of strata , and commutes with the realization functors (Theorem 3.3.1).
- The realization functors restricted to $DM_{tr}^{AT}(\mathfrak{S}/\Phi)$ are conservative (Theorem 3.3.2).

Finally, we prove that, under the hypothesis of Theorem B, $h_S(X)$ belongs to $DM_{tr}^{AT}(\mathfrak{S}/\Phi)$, and get our main theorem.

 $^{^7{\}rm given}$ by the spectrum of the associated Clifford algebra see 2.5.12, or by the Stein factorization of the Fano scheme see the proof of Theorem 4.1.6

Possible developments. We believe that our method for proving Theorem B, based in particular on Theorem A, should apply to other situations. Firstly one could investigate projective families of a different type, for example degenerations of Grassmannians or Severi-Brauer varieties. The geometry of hyper-kähler varieties or K3 surfaces should also offer a suitable playground. Lastly, the Example 2.5.14 suggests that one could look at the arithmetic case, where we work with (flat regular) schemes over rings of integers. In particular, the theory of *regular* quadric fibrations in this case still seems manageable according to [APS15].

PLAN OF THE PAPER

In the first section, we recall the theory of gluing and weights for rational mixed motives, and state several versions of *motivic decompositions*, in order of generality. We then give some basic definitions and computation of relative *smooth* Artin motives, analog of Artin motives over a field, and show that smooth Artin-Tate motives have weights, extending work of Levine and Wildeshaus. Finally, we deduce our first motivic decomposition theorem, based on the previous preparations.

The second section deals with an extension of Wildeshaus's theory of motivic intermediate extensions in order to be able to deal with (smooth) Artin-Tate motives and their extensions along immersions. Along the lines of Wildeshaus's theory, we first recall the abstract notion of semi-primary category and its application to intermediate extensions. We then specialize the construction to treat our own version of gluing adapted to some Artin-Tate motives. The key idea here is that the wellknown condition of tame ramification allows us to control the degeneracy of this particular type of motives (see Definition 3.2.2). Then, we are able to construct a suitable category of glued well-ramified Artin-Tate motives, which satisfies several good properties, as explained in the introduction.

The last section deals with our last theorem, the motivic decomposition of certain families of projective quadric bundles. We first explain our notion of regularity for quadric bundles (Definition 4.1.4), and then deduce from the construction of Section 2 our first motivic decomposition (Corollary 3.2.13). The last part of Section 3 deals with the motivic decomposition in the case where the discriminant locus is a normal crossing divisor.

Acknowledgements

The authors want to thank Emiliano Ambrosi, Giuseppe Ancona, Daniele Faenzi, Sophie Morel, Jörg Wildeshaus for discussions, ideas and interest during the course of writing of this paper. This work received support from the French "Investissements d'Avenir" program, project ISITE-BFC (contract ANR-IS-IDEX-OOOB), ANR Hodgefun (contract ANR-16-CE40-0011).

NOTATIONS AND CONVENTIONS

Given an arbitrary group G, and a field K of characteristic 0, we will denote by $\operatorname{Rep}_{K}^{A}(G)$ the abelian monoidal category of finite dimensional K-representations V of G which factor through a finite quotient of G. When G is a pro-finite group, this amounts to the continuity of the action. When $G = \pi$ is the étale fundamental group of a geometrically pointed scheme X, or the usual fundamental group of a complex variety, representations in $\operatorname{Rep}_{K}^{A}(\pi)$ are classically called *Artin representations*. In any case, thanks to Maschke's lemma, the category $\operatorname{Rep}_{K}^{A}(G)$ is semi-simple.

All our schemes are implicitly assumed to be excellent noetherian finite and dimensional.

Given (such) a scheme S, we denote by $DM_c(S, \mathbb{Q})$ the triangulated category of constructible rational motives over S.⁸ We let $\mathbb{1}_S$ be the constant motive over S (which is also the unit of the monoidal structure). We will use *cohomological motives* over S: given any morphism $f: X \to S$, we put:

$$h_S(X) = f_*(\mathbb{1}_X).$$

We will also heavily rely on the Bondarko's theory of weight structure, and especially the canonical (Chow) weight structure on $DM_c(S, \mathbb{Q})$. We recall these notions in Section 2.1.

Another important property of rational mixed motives from [CD19] that we will use is the so-called *continuity property* (see Def. 4.3.2, Prop. 14.3.1 of *op. cit.*). We will use it in the following form (see Prop. 4.3.4 of *op. cit.*):

Proposition 1.0.1. Let $(S_i)_{i \in I}$ be a projective system of schemes with a projective limit S in our category of schemes. Then the canonical functor:

$$2 - \varinjlim_{i \in I} \mathrm{DM}_c(S_i, \mathbb{Q}) \to \mathrm{DM}_c(S, \mathbb{Q})$$

is an equivalence of categories.

We will use two kinds of triangulated realization functors:

• Let ℓ be a prime invertible on S. We have the ℓ -adic realization:

$$\rho_{\ell} : \mathrm{DM}_{c}(S, \mathbb{Q}) \to \mathrm{D}_{c}^{o}(S_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}, \mathbb{Q}_{l})$$

where the right-hand side is the constructible derived category of Ekedahl's ℓ -adic étale sheaves with rational coefficients (see [CD16, 7.2.24]).

• Let E be a characteristic 0 field given with a complex embedding $\sigma : E \to \mathbb{C}$. Assume S is a finite type E-scheme. We have the Betti realization:

$$\rho_B : \mathrm{DM}_c(S, \mathbb{Q}) \to \mathrm{D}_c(S^{\mathrm{an}}, \mathbb{Q})$$

where the right-hand side is the constructible derived category of rational sheaves over the analytical site of $S^{an} = S^{\sigma}(\mathbb{C})$. This realization is obtained from that of [Ayo10] as the following composite:

$$\mathrm{DM}_c(S,\mathbb{Q})\simeq \mathrm{SH}_c(S)_{\mathbb{Q}+}\subset \mathrm{SH}_c(S)_{\mathbb{Q}}\xrightarrow{\mathrm{Betti'}_S\otimes\mathbb{Q}} \mathrm{D}_c(S^{\mathrm{an}},\mathbb{Q})$$

where:

- $\operatorname{SH}_c(S)$ is the constructible stable \mathbb{A}^1 -homotopy category (made of compact spectra over S).
- $\operatorname{SH}_c(S)_{\mathbb{Q}+}$ is plus-part of the rationalization of $\operatorname{SH}_c(S)$ (see eg. [CD19, 16.2.1])
- the first equivalence is given by [CD19, Th. 16.2.13].
- the functor Betti_{S} is (the obvious restriction of that) defined in [Ayo10, Def. 2.1].

⁸In [CD19], several models of this category are given: Beilinson motives (Def. 15.1.1), Voevodsky's h-motives (Th. 16.1.2), Voevodsky's motivic complexes (S geometrically unibranch scheme, Th. 16.1.4), the plus-part of the rational stable homotopy category (Th. 16.2.13 and 5.3.35), the \mathbb{P}^1 -stable \mathbb{A}^1 -derived étale category (Th. 16.2.22). All models being equivalent, the reader is free to choose his preferred one.

These two realization functors admit a right adjoint and commute with the six operations.⁹

2. Smooth Artin-Tate motives and motivic decompositions

2.1. Gluing and weights on Beilinson motives.

2.1.1. In the theory of rational mixed motives, a crucial property is given by the gluing formalism [BBD82a, Sec. 1.4.3], which is a consequence of Morel-Voevodsky's localization theorem [MV99, Th. 2.21, p. 114]. Given a closed immersion $i : Z \hookrightarrow S$ with complementary open immersion $j : U \hookrightarrow S$, one has six functors

(2.1.1.a)
$$\mathrm{DM}_{c}(U,\mathbb{Q}) \xrightarrow[j_{*}]{i_{*}} \mathrm{DM}_{c}(S,\mathbb{Q}) \xrightarrow[i^{*}]{i_{*}} \mathrm{DM}_{c}(Z,\mathbb{Q}),$$

satisfying the formalism of [BBD82a, Sec. 1.4.3].¹⁰

This property will be at the heart of our results (see in particular Section 2.1). They are the starting point of Hébert's and Bondarko's extension of the weight structure on rational motives, from the case of perfect fields to that of arbitrary bases. Let us recall this theory, from [Héb11, Thm. 3.3, thm. 3.8 (i)-(ii)], for future references.

Theorem 2.1.2. For each scheme S, there is a canonical weight structure w on the triangulated category $DM_c(S, \mathbb{Q})$ called the motivic weight structure. The family of these weight structures indexed by schemes S is uniquely characterized by the following properties.

(1) The objects $\mathbb{1}_{S}(p)[2p]$ belong to the heart $DM_{c}(S, \mathbb{Q})_{w=0}$ for all integers p, whenever S is regular.

(2) For any morphism $f: T \to S$, the functor f^* (resp. f_*) preserves negative weights (resp. positive weights). When f is separated of finite type, the functor $f^!$ (resp. f_1) preserves positive weights (resp. negative weights).

We will only use the motivic weight structure in this paper. So w will always mean weights for the motivic weight structure. Over a base scheme S, the heart of this weight structure will be denoted by CHM(S) and is called the category of *Chow motives over* S.

Remark 2.1.3. Gluing of (motivic) weights. Note in particular from point (2) that when f is finite (resp. etale separated of finite type), f_* (resp. f^*) preserves weights. Moreover, under the assumption of the paragraph preceding the theorem, it follows from the gluing diagram (2.1.1.a) and point (2) that the motivic weight structure on S "satisfies gluing": a motive M on S is w-positive (resp. w-negative) if and only if $j^*(M)$ and $i^!(M)$ (resp. $j^*(M)$ and $i^*(M)$) are w-positive (resp. w-negative).

Remark 2.1.4. Assumptions on base schemes. Note that in loc. cit., it is assumed that schemes are of finite type over an excellent base scheme B of dimension less than 3. First, this assumption is not used in the proof of the above statement. Secondly, the only reason this assumption appeared in motivic homotopy theory is for the proof of the Grothendieck-Verdier duality (also called "local duality"),

⁹This is proved in the references indicated above.

¹⁰This is the so-called localization property of motives, extensively studied in [CD19, §2.3].

[CD19, Th. 4.4.21].¹¹ Since then, this result has been generalized to the schemes considered in our paper by Cisinski in [Cis19, §2.3]. It is used in [Héb11] only in the statement of Corollary 3.9.

2.2. Motivic decompositions. In this section, we formulate several forms of *motivic decompositions*, which are extensions of the classical Chow-Künneth decomposition, as well as its relative form recalled in the introduction (see Introduction, "The smooth case", page 3). Recall that the first example of a relative Chow-Künneth decomposition was obtained for abelian schemes by Deninger and Murre in [DM91].

The first generalized form of motivic decompositions is due to Corti and Hanamura [CH00]. Let us recall the definition.

Definition 2.2.1. Let k be an algebraically closed field of characteristic 0, and consider ρ either the Betti realization ρ_B associated with a fixed complex embedding of k, or the ℓ -adic realization ρ_{ℓ} (see our Notations and conventions, page 8). Let $f: X \to S$ be a projective morphism of quasi-projective k-schemes such that X is smooth over k, and the associated BBD-decomposition (BBD).

A Corti-Hanamura decomposition (in short: CH-decomposition) of the Chow motive $h_S(X)$ is a finite decomposition

$$h_S(X) \simeq \bigoplus_{\lambda} M_{\lambda}$$

in the pseudo-abelian category CHM(S) such that $\rho(M_{\lambda}) = j_{\lambda!*}(L_{\lambda})$.

When f is smooth, the decomposition (BBD) is a refinement of the decomposition (D) discussed in the introduction. So in the smooth case, a CH-decomposition is similarly a refinment of a CK-decomposition.

Example 2.2.2. Such decompositions have been constructed in a few cases, particularly in complex algebraic geometry: cf. [GHM03, dCM10, MSS12].

The specificity of the above definition is to incorporate the singular case as well. The statement of our first motivic decomposition theorem, 2.5.8, together with Bondarko's work [Bon15] lead us to the following more general kind of motivic decompositions of pure weight 0 motives.

Definition 2.2.3. Let $f: X \to S$ be a proper morphism such that X is regular. A *Bondarko-Corti-Hanamura decomposition* (in short: BCH-decomposition) of the Chow motive $h_S(X)$ is a finite decomposition

$$h_S(X) \simeq \bigoplus_{\lambda} j_{\lambda!*}(M_{\lambda})$$

in CHM(S) where $j_{\lambda}: V_{\lambda} \to S$ is a locally closed immersion, V_{λ} is regular, M_{λ} is a weight 0 motive over V_{λ} whose ℓ -adic realisation is a local system up to a shift, and $\rho_{\ell} j_{\lambda!*}(M_{\lambda}) = j_{\lambda!*} (\rho_{\ell}(M_{\lambda})).$

The interest of this definition is that it does not require a base field, and moreover, it makes sense without having to choose a prime invertible on S; in particular over \mathbb{Z} . Note also that our formulation implies the existence of a decomposition

¹¹More precisely, it is used to obtain some resolution of singularity statement; see *loc. cit.*

of the form (D') (see footnote 6, page 5), for all primes ℓ , and contains an "independence of ℓ " result: under the existence of a BCH-decomposition, the rank of ${}^{p}R^{n}f_{*}(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell})$ will be independent of ℓ (see also Cor. 2.5.11).

2.2.4. Link with Bondarko's version of the motivic conjectures. As said before, the definition is partly motvivated by analysing the work of Bondarko [Bon15]. In particular, we can conjecturally justify the existence of BCH-decompositions. Indeed, the existence of such decompositions would be a consequence of the existence of the motivic *t*-structure together with the assumption that it is *transversal* (see [Bon15, Def. 1.4.1]) to the Chow weight structure.¹² More precisely, to get the BCH-decomposition under the previous assumption, one can apply *op. cit.*:

- Prop. 1.4.2, point (3) to the weight 0 motive $h_S(X)$ to get the analogue of the relative Chow Künneth decomposition: $h_S(X) \simeq \bigoplus_i H^i(h_S(X))[-i],$ H^i computed for the motivic *t*-structure.
- Prop. 4.2.3, to get the decomposition for each $H^i(h_S(X))$ given it is pure of weight *i*.
- Rem. 4.2.4, point 2 to get the statement about the *l*-adic realisation of the BCH-decomposition.

Note moreover that Bondarko obtains in his Proposition 4.2.3 the uniqueness of the set of isomorphism classes of the factors of the BCH-decomposition. We have not stated this uniqueness property in the above definition. Indeed, to give a proper statement we either need the existence of the heart of the motivic t-structure, or conservativity of the ℓ -adic realisations.¹³ However, we think that establishing BCH-decompositions is a good way to approximate the conjectural motivic t-structure, as shown by Deligne's formula (D').

Example 2.2.5. There is at least one easy example where a BCH-decomposition exists: this is the case of relative lci cellular morphisms, first addressed by Karpenko (see [ADN20, Def. 5.3.1, Cor. 5.3.7] for the more general case).¹⁴ Theorem 2.5.8 gives many more examples in the smooth case (see also 2.5.10), and has indeed served as a motivation for the previous definition.

2.3. Smooth Artin motives. It is possible to extend the known results on Artin motives over a field to the relative case. Let us start with the definition.

Definition 2.3.1. We define the category of (constructible) smooth Artin motives over S as the thick triangulated subcategory of $DM_c(S, \mathbb{Q})$ generated by motives of the form $h_S(X)$ (resp. $h_S(X)(n)$) for X/S finite and étale. We denote this category by $DM^A_{sm}(S, \mathbb{Q})$.

¹²Note also that Bondarko shows that this would be a consequence of Beilinson's conjectures (see *op. cit.*, Prop. 4.1.1). He also gives an argument to get it as a consequence of the standard conjecture D together with Murre's conjectures. Note that to get the existence of BCH-decompositions in all cases, we need to apply these conjectures for all residue fields of S, and all ℓ -adic realisations! Of course, this kind of exercise in juggling between motivic conjectures has its limit; we only hope to convince the reader that our definition of BCH-decompositions is reasonable.

¹³Note however that in our Theorems A and B below, the involved motives belong to subcategories on which the realisations can be proven to be conservative (Thm. 3.3.1). So, in our cases we do get uniqueness of isomorphism classes in the BCH-decompositions.

 $^{^{14}}$ This is not surprising as one can interpret the BCH-decomposition as an attempt to find an algebraic analogue of cellular decompositions of differential varieties.

Note that for X/S finite étale, $h_S(X)$ coincides with the Voevodsky motive $M_S(X)$.

Example 2.3.2. Let k be a perfect field. Then it follows from [VSF00, Chap. 5, Rem. 2. after 3.4.1] (see also [Org04] for details) that there exists a canonical equivalence of triangulated monoidal categories:

$$\mathrm{DM}^{\mathrm{A}}_{\mathrm{sm}}(k,\mathbb{Q})\simeq\mathrm{D}^{b}\left(\operatorname{Rep}^{\mathrm{A}}_{\mathbb{Q}}(G_{k})\right)$$

where G_k is the absolute Galois group of k, and $\operatorname{Rep}^{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathbb{Q}}(G_k)$ denotes the continuous representations of G_k with rational coefficients.

2.3.3. Let us recall that one model of $DM(S, \mathbb{Q})$ is obtained as the \mathbb{P}^1 -stable \mathbb{A}^1 -derived category of the category $Sh(Sm_{S,\text{\acute{e}t}}, \mathbb{Q})$ of rational étale sheaves on Sm_S (see [CD19, 16.2.18]).

The inclusion $\rho:S_{\rm \acute{e}t}\to Sm_{S,\acute{e}t}$ of étale sites induces a fully faithful and exact functor:

$$\rho_! : \operatorname{Sh}(S_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}, \mathbb{Q}) \to \operatorname{Sh}(Sm_{S,\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}, \mathbb{Q}).$$

Note $\rho_{!}$ is moreover (symmetric) monoidal. One deduces a canonical composite functor:

 $D(S_{\text{\acute{e}t}}, \mathbb{Q}) \xrightarrow{\rho_!} D(Sh(Sm_{S, \text{\acute{e}t}}, \mathbb{Q})) \to DM(S, \mathbb{Q})$

the last functor being obtained by projection to the \mathbb{A}^1 -localization and then taking infinite suspensions. We will still denote the latter composite by $\rho_!$.

Then $\rho_{!}$ is triangulated and monoidal. By definition, it sends the sheaf represented by a finite étale scheme X/S on $S_{\acute{e}t}$ to the same object on $Sm_{S,\acute{e}t}$, seen as a motivic complex. This is just $M_S(X) = h_S(X)$.

Proposition 2.3.4. Assume S is a regular connected scheme. Let $\pi = \pi_1(S_{\text{\acute{e}t}})$ be the étale fundamental group of S associated with some geometric base point. Then the functor $\rho_!$ is fully faithful when restricted to the full subcategory $D^b(\operatorname{Rep}^A_{\mathbb{Q}}(\pi))$ and induces an equivalence of triangulated monoidal categories:

$$o_!: \mathrm{D}^b\left(\operatorname{Rep}^{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathbb{Q}}(\pi)\right) \to \mathrm{DM}^{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathrm{sm}}(S, \mathbb{Q}).$$

Moreover, the ℓ -adic realisation functor restricted to $\mathrm{DM}^{\mathrm{A}}_{\mathrm{sm}}(S,\mathbb{Q})$ lands into the bounded derived category of Artin ℓ -adic Galois representations and the composite functor:

$$\mathrm{D}^{b}\left(\operatorname{Rep}_{\mathbb{Q}}^{\mathrm{A}}(\pi)\right) \xrightarrow{\rho_{!}} \mathrm{DM}_{\mathrm{sm}}^{\mathrm{A}}(S,\mathbb{Q}) \xrightarrow{\rho_{\ell}} \mathrm{D}^{b}\left(\operatorname{Rep}_{\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}}^{\mathrm{A}}(\pi)\right)$$

is just the extension of scalar functor associated with $\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}/\mathbb{Q}$.

Proof. We prove the first assertion: fully faithful nature of the restriction of $\rho_{!}$. Note that the functor $\rho_{!}$ admits a right adjoint ρ^{*} . The functor ρ^{*} commutes with direct sums: this follows formally as $D(S_{\text{\acute{e}t}}, \mathbb{Q})$ is compactly generated.¹⁵ We have to prove that for all complexes K, L in $D^{b}(\operatorname{Rep}_{\mathbb{Q}}^{A}(\pi))$, and say any $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ for the next reduction, the map:

$$\operatorname{Hom}(K, L[n]) \to \operatorname{Hom}(\rho_! K, \rho_! L[n]) = \operatorname{Hom}(K, \rho^* \rho_! L[n])$$

is an isomorphism. Now we use the fact $D^b(\operatorname{Rep}^A_{\mathbb{Q}}(\pi))$ is generated by shifts of sheaves representable by some finite étale cover X/S. So we are reduced to the

¹⁵In fact, it is equivalent to $D(S_{Nis}, \mathbb{Q})$ as π is pro-finite.

case $K = \mathbb{Q}(X)$, $L = \mathbb{Q}(Y)$ for X and Y étale cover of S. Explicitly, we have to prove that the following map is an isomorphism:

 $\operatorname{Hom}(\mathbb{Q}(X),\mathbb{Q}(Y)[n]) \to \operatorname{Hom}(h_S(X),h_S(Y)[n]).$

In the monoidal category $\operatorname{Sh}(S_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}, \mathbb{Q})$, and therefore in $\operatorname{D}(S_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}, \mathbb{Q})$, the sheaf $\mathbb{Q}(Y)$ is auto-dual. The same result holds for $h_S(X)$ in $\operatorname{DM}(S, \mathbb{Q})$ (as for example $\rho_!$ is monoidal). Applying the formulas $\mathbb{Q}(X) \otimes \mathbb{Q}(Y) = \mathbb{Q}(X \times_S Y)$ and $h_S(X) \otimes h_S(Y) = h_S(X \times_S Y)$, we are reduced to the case Y = S. In other words we have to prove that the canonical map:

(2.3.4.a)
$$H^n(X_{\text{\'et}}, \mathbb{Q}) \to \operatorname{Hom}(h_S(X), \mathbb{Q}[n]) = H^{n,0}_M(X, \mathbb{Q})$$

is an isomorphism. Note that X is regular, as it is étale over S. Thus it is geometrically unibranch and we get from [AGV73, IX, 2.14.1]:

$$H^n(X_{\text{ét}}, \mathbb{Q}) = \mathbb{Q}^{\pi_0(X)}$$
 for $n = 0, 0$ otherwise.

Also, according to [CD19, 14.2.14], we get:

$$H^{n,0}_M(X,\mathbb{Q}) = Gr^0_{\gamma}K_{-n}(X)_{\mathbb{Q}} = \mathbb{Q}^{\pi_0(X)}$$
 for $n = 0, 0$ otherwise,

and so the map (2.3.4.a) is necessarily an isomorphism.

The other assertions are clear, by definition of the category of smooth Artin motives. $\hfill \Box$

In the complex case, we get a simpler formulation.

Proposition 2.3.5. Let E be a field of characteristic zero, S a smooth connected E-scheme and $\pi = \pi_1(S^{an})$ for any choice of base point of S^{an} .

Then the Betti realisation functor:

$$p_B : \mathrm{DM}_c(S, \mathbb{Q}) \to \mathrm{D}(S^{\mathrm{an}}, \mathbb{Q})$$

is fully faithful when restricted to $DM^A_{sm}(S, \mathbb{Q})$ and induces an equivalence of triangulated monoidal categories:

$$\rho_B : \mathrm{DM}^{\mathrm{A}}_{\mathrm{sm}}(S, \mathbb{Q}) \to \mathrm{D}^b (\operatorname{Rep}^{\mathrm{A}}_{\mathbb{O}}(\pi)).$$

The proof uses the same argument as in the case of the previous proposition, given that $h_S(X)$ is realized to the complex $\operatorname{R} f^{\operatorname{an}}_*(\mathbb{Q}_X)$ which is concentrated in degree 0 and equal to the continuous representation of π represented by the Galois cover X^{an} over S^{an} .

Remark 2.3.6. The two previous propositions are obviously compatible: in the assumptions of the second one, we get according to a theorem of Grothendieck:

$$\pi_1(S_{\text{\'et}}) \simeq \widehat{\pi_1(S^{\text{an}})}$$

where the right hand-side denotes profinite completion. In particular, we get equivalence of (abelian semi-simple monoidal) categories:

$$\operatorname{Rep}_{\mathbb{Q}}^{\mathcal{A}}\left(\pi_{1}(S_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}})\right) \simeq \operatorname{Rep}_{\mathbb{Q}}^{\mathcal{A}}\left(\pi_{1}(S^{\operatorname{an}})\right) \simeq \operatorname{Rep}_{\mathbb{Q}}^{\mathcal{A}}\left(\pi_{1}(S^{\operatorname{an}})\right).$$

2.4. Weights on smooth Artin-Tate motives. The purpose of this section is to extend results of Wildeshaus, [Wil16] on Artin-Tate motives over a field to the case of a regular base scheme S. Moreover, for the purpose of our main theorem, we will need to restrict the type of allowed Artin motives, as in *loc. cit.* So we introduce the next definition.

Definition 2.4.1. Let *S* be a regular connected scheme with étale fundamental group $\pi = \pi_1(S_{\text{ét}})$. Let \mathcal{A} be a full \mathbb{Q} -linear sub-category of $\operatorname{Rep}^{A}_{\mathbb{Q}}(\pi)$ which is stable under retracts.¹⁶

We define the triangulated category of smooth Artin-Tate motives of type \mathcal{A} over S as the thick triangulated subcategory of $\mathrm{DM}_c(S,\mathbb{Q})$ generated by motives of the form $\rho_!(A)(n)$ for an object A of \mathcal{A} and an integer $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ (see Proposition 2.3.4 for the definition of $\rho_!$). We denote it by $\mathrm{DM}_{\mathrm{sm}}^{\mathcal{A}\mathrm{T}}(S,\mathbb{Q})$.

the definition of $\rho_!$). We denote it by $\mathrm{DM}_{\mathrm{sm}}^{\mathcal{A}\mathrm{T}}(S,\mathbb{Q})$. When $\mathcal{A} = \mathrm{Rep}_{\mathbb{Q}}^{\mathbb{A}}(\pi)$, the above category is simply the category of smooth Artin-Tate motives over S, denoted by $\mathrm{DM}_{\mathrm{sm}}^{\mathrm{A}\mathrm{T}}(S,\mathbb{Q})$.

Remark 2.4.2. Note that compared to Definition 1.6 of [Wil16], we do not assume that \mathcal{A} is closed under tensor product. As a consequence $\mathrm{DM}_{\mathrm{sm}}^{\mathcal{A}\mathrm{T}}(S,\mathbb{Q})$ is not monoidal in general.

Theorem 2.4.3. Consider the above notations and assumptions of the above definition.

Then the weight structure on $DM_c(S, \mathbb{Q})$ restricts to a weight structure on the triangulated sub-category $DM_{sm}^{AT}(S, \mathbb{Q})$. Moreover, any motive M in $DM_{sm}^{AT}(S, \mathbb{Q})$ of weight 0 admits a decomposition:

(2.4.3.a)
$$M \simeq \bigoplus_{i \in I} \rho_!(V_i)(n_i)[2n_i]$$

where I is a finite set, V_i is a simple Artin representation of π in \mathcal{A} and n_i is an integer. (See Paragraph 2.3.3 for ρ_1).

Remark 2.4.4. (1) Another way of stating the second assertion is that the canonical functor

$$D^{b}(\mathcal{A}) \to DM_{sm}^{\mathcal{A}T}(S, \mathbb{Q})_{w=0} = DM_{sm}^{\mathcal{A}T}(S, \mathbb{Q}) \cap CHM(S, \mathbb{Q})$$
$$(V_{n})_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \mapsto \bigoplus_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \rho_{!}(V_{n})(n)[2n]$$

is essentially surjective. Contrary to what happens in [Wil16], over a perfect field, this functor is not an equivalence of triangulated categories. The problem comes from the non-triviality of $CH^n(V)_{\mathbb{Q}}$ for n > 0 and V/Sfinite étale. So in particular, the preceding functor is an equivalence when S is (regular) semi-local.

(2) The decomposition (2.4.3.a) is a particular case of the Corti-Hanamura decomposition: If we apply the ℓ -adic realization functor ρ_{ℓ} to an Artin representation V_n we get (according to the last assertion of Prop. 2.3.4)

$$\rho_{\ell}(M) \simeq \bigoplus_{i \in I} (V_i \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{Q}_{\ell})(n_i)[2n_i].$$

¹⁶And therefore stable under kernel and cokernel as $\operatorname{Rep}^{A}_{\mathbb{Q}}(\pi)$ is abelian semi-simple. In particular, \mathcal{A} is abelian semi-simple.

In particular, if the decomposition (2.4.3.a) of M is not unique. But the pairs (V_i, n_i) for $i \in I$ are uniquely determined by M (or its realization).

Proof. Let us show the first assertion. Let \mathcal{H} be the full \mathbb{Q} -linear sub-category of $\mathrm{DM}_{\mathrm{sm}}^{\mathcal{A}\mathrm{T}}(S,\mathbb{Q})$ whose objects are of the form (2.4.3.a), where V_i is a simple object of \mathcal{A} . As S is regular, all motives in \mathcal{H} are of weight 0. In particular, given such motives M, N, one has $\mathrm{Hom}(M, N[i]) = 0$ for i > 0. This condition implies that there is a unique weight structure on $\mathrm{DM}_{\mathrm{sm}}^{\mathcal{A}\mathrm{T}}(S,\mathbb{Q})$ (see eg. [Wil09, 1.5]), whose heart is the pseudo-abelianization \mathcal{K} of \mathcal{H} . It follows from the axioms of weight structure, thus proving the first assertion.

To prove the second assertion, it is sufficient to prove that $\mathcal{K} = \mathcal{H}$, *i.e.* that \mathcal{H} is pseudo-abelian. Let $e: M \to M$ be an idempotent of \mathcal{H} . By assumption, we can write $M = \sum_{i=1}^{r} \rho_!(V_i)(n_i)[2n_i]$ where V_i is an object of \mathcal{A} (semi-simple, but not necessary simple) and $n_1 < n_2 < \ldots < n_r$. We prove by induction on the number of factors r of M that e admits a kernel in \mathcal{H} .

We treat the case r = 1. According to Proposition 2.3.4, and the fact that twists are invertible, the category of motives of the form $\rho_!(V_1)(n_1)[2n_1]$ for an object V_1 of \mathcal{A} and an integer n_1 is equivalent to the abelian (semi-simple) category \mathcal{A} . This implies that any idempotent of a motive of this form admits a kernel, giving the case r = 1.

Assume the result is known for any integer less than r > 1, and prove the case where M has exactly r factors as above. Put $P = \rho_!(V_1)(n_1)[2n_1]$ and $Q = \sum_{i=2}^{r} \rho_!(V_i)(n_i)[2n_i]$ so that $M = P \oplus Q$. Given that decomposition, we can write the idempotent e as a 2 by 2 matrix:

$$e = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix}$$
 .

Then c belongs to

 $\oplus_{i=2}^{r} \operatorname{Hom}\left(\rho_{!}(V_{i})(n_{i})[2n_{i}], \rho(V_{1})(n_{1})[2n_{1}]\right) = \operatorname{CH}^{n_{1}-n_{i}}(V_{i} \times_{S} V_{1})$

using the auto-duality of $\rho_!(V)$ (see the proof of Prop. 2.3.4) — in the right handside, we identify the sheaf V_i with the finite étale S-scheme which represent it. As by assumption, $n_1 < n_i$ for i > 1, we get that c = 0. Note that a and dare idempotent, respectively of P and Q. According to the induction case, these idempotents admit a kernel in \mathcal{H} . One easily deduces from the matrix form of ethat $\operatorname{Ker}(a) \oplus \operatorname{Ker}(d)$ is a kernel of e in \mathcal{H} . This concludes the induction step, and the proof.

2.5. First decomposition theorem. For the needs of the proof of our first decomposition theorem, we will extend some definitions of [Wil12]. Let us first recall the following theorem, Th. 1.7 of *loc. cit.*

Theorem 2.5.1 ((Wildeshaus)). Let $j : U \to S$ be an open immersion. Then the weight-exact functor j^* induces an additive exact functor

$$j^* : \operatorname{CHM}(S) \to \operatorname{CHM}(U)$$

which is essentially surjective and full.

2.5.2. Consider an open immersion $j: U \to S$ and a Chow motive M over U. A Chow extension of M along j will be a pair (\overline{M}, α) where \overline{M} is a Chow motive

over S and α is an isomorphism $i^*(\overline{M}) \xrightarrow{\sim} M$. Morphisms of such extensions are defined in the obvious way.

According to the previous theorem, extensions of M along i always exist. The goal of the work of Wildeshaus is to find (and to define) the *intermediate extension* of M along j: see [Wil17], Summary 2.12. For the needs of our first decomposition theorem, we will use a special type of Chow extensions that we now introduce.

Definition 2.5.3. Consider the above notations, assuming that j is dense. Then a Chow extension (\overline{M}, α) of M along j will be called *fair* if the induced map

$$\operatorname{End}(\overline{M}) \to \operatorname{End}(j^*(M)) \xrightarrow{\alpha_*} \operatorname{End}(M)$$

is an isomorphism — i.e. a monomorphism according to the previous theorem.

The proof of the following result is identical to that of [Wil12, Th. 3.1(a)].

Theorem 2.5.4. Consider the notations of the previous definition. Assume a fair Chow extension (\overline{M}, α) of M along j exists.

Then for any extension (P,β) of M along j, there exists a decomposition of P of the form:

$$b: P \xrightarrow{\sim} \overline{M} \oplus i_*(L_Z)$$

where L_Z is a Chow motive over Z, satisfying the relation: $j^*(\psi) = \alpha^{-1} \circ \beta$.

If moreover (P,β) is fair, then $L_Z = 0$ and the isomorphism ψ is uniquely determined by the preceding relation.

Example 2.5.5. A fair Chow extension as above is a particular instance of Wildeshaus's theory of intermediate extension $j_{!*}(M)$, as shown for example by the characterizing property (4a) of Summary 2.12 of [Wil17]. The preceding theorem can also be interpreted as a minimality property of the extension (\overline{M}, α) .

One cannot always expect that such minimal extensions exist (the correct hope is formulated in loc. cit., Conjecture 3.4; cfr. Rmk. 3.1.5). However, here are some interesting examples.

- (1) Assume that U is regular, and the normalization of X is regular. Then $\mathbb{1}_{U}$ admits a fair Chow extension: this is [Wil12, Th. 3.11(a)].
- (2) Assume that both U and S are regular. Let V/U be an étale cover. Using a classical terminology, we will say that V is non-ramified along (S-U) if there exists an étale cover \overline{V}/S whose restriction to U is V. In that case, for any integer $n \in \mathbb{Z}$, the Artin-Tate motive $\overline{M} = h_S(\overline{V})(n)[2n]$ is a fair Chow extension of $M = h_U(V)(n)[2n]$ along j.

Indeed, \overline{M} is obviously a Chow extension of M along j (using the six functors formalism). Moreover, as in the proof of Prop. 2.3.4, one gets:

End
$$(\bar{M}) \simeq \mathbb{Q}^{\pi_0(\bar{V} \times_S \bar{V})}$$
, End $(M) \simeq \mathbb{Q}^{\pi_0(V \times_U V)}$

End(M) $\simeq \mathbb{Q}^{n_0(V \times S^V)}$, End(M) $\simeq \mathbb{Q}^{n_0(V \times U^V)}$. As $V \times_U V$ is a dense open of $\bar{V} \times_S \bar{V}$, we get that \bar{M} is fair as claimed.

Remark 2.5.6. The reader can check that one can replace, in [Wil12, Th. 3.11] points (a) and (b), the constant motive $\mathbb{1}_U$ by a smooth Artin-Tate motive $h_U(V)$ such that V is unramified along (S - U).

2.5.7. Recall also that a Chow motive over a field k is said to be *Tate* if it is isomorphic to a finite sum of motives of the form $\mathbb{1}(i)[2i]$ for an integer $i \in \mathbb{Z}$. By extension, a smooth proper k-scheme is said to be Tate if its associated Chow motive is Tate.

Theorem 2.5.8. Let S be a regular connected scheme with étale fundamental group π . Let $f: X \to S$ be a smooth proper morphism whose geometric fibers are Tate.

Then there exists an isomorphisms of motives over S:

$$h_S(X) \simeq \bigoplus_{i \in I} \rho_!(V_i)(-n_i)[-2n_i]$$

where I is a finite set, V_i is a simple Artin representation of π and n_i is a nonnegative integer. In other words, $h_S(X)$ is a smooth Artin-Tate motive over S of weight 0 — see Theorem 2.4.3.

Moreover, this decomposition is a BCH-decomposition of the Chow motive $h_S(X)$ (see Def. 2.2.3), and the set $\{([V_i], n_i), i \in I\}$ where $[V_i]$ denotes the isomorphism class in $\operatorname{Rep}_{\mathbb{Q}}^{A}(\pi)$ (or what amount to the same in the corresponding category of simple étale S-covers) is uniquely determined by the property that for any prime integer ℓ and any $n \geq 0$:

(2.5.8.a)
$$\mathbf{R}^{2n} f'_{*}(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}) \simeq \bigoplus_{i \in I \mid n_{i} = n} V'_{i} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{Q}_{\ell}(-n_{i})$$

where f' and V' are pullback of f and V along the open immersion $U[\ell^{-1}] \to U$.

Proof. Let $\bar{\eta}$ be a geometric generic point of S. By assumption, one gets:

$$h_{\bar{\eta}}(X_{\bar{\eta}}) \simeq \sum_{i \in I} \mathbb{1}_{\bar{\eta}}(-n_i)[-2n_i]$$

According to the continuity property of DM_c (see Proposition 1.0.1), there exists a dense open $j : U \to S$ and an étale cover $p : V \to U$ such that the above isomorphism lifts to:

$$h_V(X_V) \simeq \bigoplus_{j \in J} \mathbb{1}_V(-m_j)[-2m_j].$$

In particular, $h_U(X_V) = p_*(h_V(X_V)) \simeq \sum_{j \in J} p_*(\mathbb{1}_V)(-m_j)[-2m_j]$ is a smooth Artin-Tate motive over U. As p is finite étale, the natural map

$$p^*: h_U(X_U) \to h_U(X_V)$$

is a split monomorphism, with splitting $\frac{1}{d} \cdot p_*$ where p_* is the Gysin morphism associated with p (see e.g. [CD19, 13.7.4 and 13.7.6]). In particular, $h_U(X_U)$ is a smooth Artin-Tate motive, and it follows from Theorem 2.4.3 that there exists a decomposition:

$$h_U(X_U) \simeq \bigoplus_{i \in I} \rho_!(W_i)(-n_i)[-2n_i]$$

where W_i is a simple Artin representation of $\pi_1(U)$. Given a prime ℓ , we let $U' = U[\ell^{-1}]$, $f_{U'}$ the pullback of f over U', W'_i the Artin representation of $\pi_1(U')$ induced by W_i . According to Remark 2.4.4(2), and because $\rho_\ell(h_{U'}(X_{U'})) \simeq \operatorname{R} f_{U'*}(\mathbb{Q}_\ell)$, one gets:

(2.5.8.b)
$$\mathbf{R}^{2n} f_{U'*}(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}) \simeq \bigoplus_{i \in I \mid n_i = n} W'_i \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{Q}_{\ell}(-n_i).$$

This is the decomposition of the locally constant sheaf $\mathbb{R}^{2n} f_{U'*}(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell})$ into semisimple components (beware the W'_i might not be simple). As this sheaf admits an extension to all S, namely $\mathbb{R}^{2n} f'_*(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell})$, $f' = f[\ell^{-1}]$, it follows that each representation W'_i is unramified along (S - U). As this is true for any prime ℓ , one deduces that W_i is unramified along (S-U); *i.e.* it admits an extension V_i to S. According to Example 2.5.5(2), one deduces that

$$\bigoplus_{i\in I}\rho_!(V_i)(-n_i)[-2n_i]$$

is a fair Chow extension of $h_U(X_U)$. As $h_S(X)$ is obviously a Chow extension of $h_U(X_U)$, one deduces from Theorem 2.5.4 that there exists a decomposition:

(2.5.8.c)
$$h_S(X) \simeq \bigoplus_{i \in I} \rho_!(V_i)(-n_i)[-2n_i] \oplus i_*(M_Z)$$

for some Chow motive M_Z over Z. Note that Relation (2.5.8.b) implies Relation (2.5.8.a).¹⁷

It remains to prove that $M_Z = 0$. As the morphism $p: S' = \sum_{\ell \text{ prime}} S[\ell^{-1}] \to S$ is a pro-open cover, the pullback functor $p^*: \text{DM}(S) \to \text{DM}(S')$ is conservative (use the continuity property of DM [CD19, Th. 14.3.1] and the Zariski separation property as in the proof of [CD19, Prop. 4.3.9]). In particular, we can fix a prime ℓ and work over $S[\ell^{-1}]$. To simplify notation, let us assume $S = S[\ell^{-1}]$. Consider a point $x \in Z$, and let $i_x : \{x\} \to Z$ be the canonical immersion. Let \bar{x} be a geometric point over x. By assumption, $h_{\bar{x}}(X_{\bar{x}})$ is a Tate motive. In other words, the motive $i_x^*h_S(X) = h_x(X_x)$ is an Artin-Tate motive over the residue field $\kappa(x)$. Decomposition (2.5.8.c) gives:

$$h_x(X_x) \simeq \bigoplus_{i \in I} \rho_!(V_{i,x})(-n_i)[-2n_i] \oplus i_x^*(M_Z)$$

where $V_{i,x}$ denotes the pullback of V_i to x (seen as an étale sheaf). As recalled in Remark 2.4.4(2), applied over $\kappa(x)$, the ℓ -adic realization of $h_x(X_x)$ determines the factors of the decomposition of $h_x(X_x)$ into twists of Artin motives (up to isomorphisms and permutations). Thus relation (2.5.8.a) (which we have already established), specialized at x using the smooth base change theorem in ℓ -adic étale cohomology, implies that the set of isomorphism classes of the $V_{i,x}$ describes all the possible factors of the weight 0 Artin-Tate motive $h_x(X_x)$ and this implies $i_x^*(M_Z) = 0$. One concludes as $(i_x^*)_{x \in Z}$ is a conservative family of functors on $\mathrm{DM}_c(Z,\mathbb{Q})$ (see [CD19, 4.3.17]).

Remark 2.5.9. Note also that we deduce from Example 2.5.5 that for any dense open immersion $j: U \to S$, $h_S(X)$ is a fair Chow extension of $h_U(X_U)$. In particular, $h_S(X) = j_{!*}(h_U(X_U))$.

Example 2.5.10. Relative Severi-Brauer schemes, étale locally cellular schemes, relative homogeneous varieties, smooth quadrics.

Corollary 2.5.11. Under the assumption of the previous theorem, for any integer $n \ge 0$, the integer:

 $\dim_{\mathbb{Q}_\ell} \left(\operatorname{R}^n f_*(\mathbb{Q}_\ell) \right)$

is independent of the prime ℓ invertible on S.

¹⁷In particular, we know that $\rho_{\ell}(M_Z)$ vanishes but this is not sufficient to conclude (as we do not know yet that the ℓ -realization is conservative).

2.5.12. An important corollary for us is the case of smooth quadrics: following [DK73, XII, Def. 2.4], a smooth quadric over a scheme S is a smooth proper morphism $f: X \to S$ whose geometric fibers are smooth quadric hypersurfaces in the classical sense.

Let us introduce some notations in order to state the next corollary. Assume f has constant relative dimension n. According to op. cit., 2.6, there exists a Severi Brauer S-scheme P(X) which contains X as an effective Cartier divisor of degree 2. If n = 2m, the center of the Clifford \mathcal{O}_S -algebra associated with the closed pair (P(X), X) is an étale cover Z(X) over S of degree 2; op. cit., 2.7.

Then, applying Theorem 2.5.8 and [DK73, Th. 3.3] one gets:

Corollary 2.5.13. Consider the above notations. Assume that S is regular and that there exists a prime ℓ invertible on S.

Then there exists a decomposition of Chow motives over S as follows:

$$h_{S}(X) \simeq \begin{cases} \bigoplus_{i=0}^{n} \mathbb{1}_{S}(i)[2i] & \text{if } n = 2m+1, \\ h_{S}(Z(X)) \oplus \bigoplus_{i=0, i \neq m}^{n} \mathbb{1}_{S}(i)[2i] & \text{if } n = 2m. \end{cases}$$

Example 2.5.14. Let us give some concrete examples illustrating the above Corollary when S is an arithmetic scheme.

(1) It is known that smooth quadrics over $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{Z})$ exist: one way to see this has been explained by Buzzard in [hb]. One considers a quadric hypersurface X in $\mathbb{P}^N_{\mathbb{Q}}$ whose Hessian matrix H is a symmetric, integer valued $(N + 1) \times (N + 1)$ matrix with det $H = \pm 1$ and even entries down the diagonal; e.g., the Gram matrix of any even unimodular lattice (these exist in any positive dimension divisible by 8) provides such an H. As det H is non-zero mod p for any prime p, the quadric X admits a proper and smooth model over \mathbb{Z} .

(2) Since $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{Z})$ is simply connected (a consequence of Minkowski's theorem), the previous construction yields quadrics whose motive decomposes, according to Cor. 2.5.13, as a sum of Tate motives (the Artin factors are necessarily trivial). In order to find cases where genuine Artin-Tate motives appear, we have to place ourselves over a non-simply connected base. Let then F be a number field with ring of integers \mathcal{O}_F , such that $S := \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{O}_F)$ has non-trivial étale fundamental group. In this setting, examples abound, as we are going to argue following a line of thought suggested to us by G. Ancona.

Let N be a positive integer. Analogously to Example (1) above, we look to a \mathcal{O}_F -valued $2N \times 2N$ matrix H, such that any entry on the diagonal is divisible by 2, and det H is invertible in \mathcal{O}_F . We may take for example N = 2, $\mathcal{O}_F = \mathbb{Z}[\sqrt{-5}]$ (we have then $\pi_{1,\text{ét}}(S) \simeq \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$) and

(2.5.14.a)
$$H = \begin{pmatrix} A & 0 \\ 0 & B \end{pmatrix}, A = \begin{pmatrix} -4\sqrt{-5} & 9 \\ 9 & 4\sqrt{-5} \end{pmatrix}, B = \begin{pmatrix} 2 & \sqrt{-5} \\ \sqrt{-5} & -2 \end{pmatrix}$$

The matrix H is then the Hessian matrix of a smooth quadric X in \mathbb{P}_{S}^{2N-1} . We want to exhibit examples where the motive $h_{S}(Z(X))$ of Cor. 2.5.13 is non-Tate. By proper base change and Thm. 2.3.4, it is enough to make sure that there exists a prime \mathfrak{p} of \mathcal{O}_{F} such that the Galois representation on $H_{\text{ét}}^{N-1}(X_{\mathfrak{p}}, \mathbb{Q}_{\ell})$, for $\ell \neq p := \operatorname{car} \mathcal{O}_{F}/\mathfrak{p}$, is non-trivial. The Lefschetz fixed point formula shows that the latter property is equivalent to the condition

$$\operatorname{Card}(X_{\mathfrak{p}}(\mathbb{F}_q)) \neq 1 + q + \dots + 2q^{N-1} + \dots q^{2N-2},$$

where \mathbb{F}_q denotes the field $\mathcal{O}_F/\mathfrak{p}$ and $q = p^r$ for some r. This can be checked in specific cases, using the following elementary fact: a quadratic form in at least three variables over a finite field always admits an isotropic vector, hence always contains an hyperbolic plane.

We make explicit this principle when N = 2. Let m be the quadratic form in four variables over \mathbb{F}_q obtained by reducing the coefficients of H modulo \mathfrak{p} . By the fact just recalled, m can be written in the form $ut = rx^2 + sy^2$, with $r, s \in \mathbb{F}_q^{\times}$. Now a computation shows that if $rx^2 + sy^2$ has no isotropic vectors, then $\operatorname{Card}(X_{\mathfrak{p}}(\mathbb{F}_q)) = 1 + q^2$, thus giving us the desired quadric. For example, if we choose A and B as in (2.5.14.a) and suppose that $p \neq 2$, we have r = s = 1, and the fact that the bilinear form $x^2 + y^2$ has no isotropic vectors is equivalent to ask that $1 = \operatorname{disc}(x^2 + y^2) \neq -1 \mod (\mathbb{F}_q^{\times})^2$, which is equivalent to ask -1 not being a square in \mathbb{F}_q . Now choose as \mathfrak{p} one of the two prime ideals above the completely split prime p = 3. Then, $\mathbb{F}_q = \mathbb{Z}/3\mathbb{Z}$, and -1 is not a square mod 3.

3. Recall and complement on Wildeshaus's motivic intermediate extensions

3.1. Semi-primary categories and motivic intermediate extensions. Recall the following definition.

Definition 3.1.1. A \mathbb{Q} -linear category \mathfrak{C} is *semi-primary* if

(1) for all objects B of \mathfrak{C} , the *radical*

$$\operatorname{rad}_{\mathfrak{C}}(B,B) := \{ f \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathfrak{C}}(B,B) | \forall g \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathfrak{C}}(B,B), \operatorname{id}_B - gf \text{ is invertible} \}$$

is nilpotent;

(2) the quotient category $\mathfrak{C}/\operatorname{rad}_{\mathfrak{C}}$ is semisimple.

Adopt the notations of subsection 2.1. We are now going to explain how the notion of semi-primality leads to a definition of an intermediate extension functor, following Wildeshaus.

Let \cdot denote any of the schemes U, S or Z, and fix $\mathcal{C}(\cdot)$ full pseudo-abelian subcategories of the categories $\mathrm{DM}_c(\cdot,\mathbb{Q})$, related by gluing. Assume that they inherit a weight structure (automatically compatible with the gluing) from the restrictions of the motivic weight structure. The subscript w = 0 will mean that we are taking the *heart* of such weight structures.

Moreover, denote by $\mathcal{C}(S)_{w=0}^{u}$ the quotient of the category $\mathcal{C}(S)_{w=0}$ by the twosided ideal¹⁸ \mathfrak{g} generated by $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}(S)}(A, i_*B)$ and $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}(S)}(i_*B, A)$, with (A, B)varying on the collection of objects of $\mathcal{C}(S)_{w=0} \times \mathcal{C}(Z)_{w=0}$ such that A admits no non-zero direct factor belonging to $\mathcal{C}(Z)_{w=0}$. Finally, denote by $\mathcal{C}(Z)_{w=0}^{u}$ the quotient of the category $\mathcal{C}(Z)_{w=0}$ by the restriction of \mathfrak{g} to $\mathcal{C}(Z)_{w=0}$ (with respect to the fully faithful inclusion $i_* : \mathcal{C}(Z)_{w=0} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{C}(S)_{w=0}$).

Theorem 3.1.2. [Wil17, Theorem 2.9]

(1) If $\mathcal{C}(Z)_{w=0}$ is semi-primary, then the functors j^* and i_* induce a canonical equivalence of categories

(3.1.2.a) $\mathcal{C}(S)_{w=0}^{u} \simeq \mathcal{C}(U)_{w=0} \times \mathcal{C}(Z)_{w=0}^{u}$

(2) If both $\mathcal{C}(Z)_{w=0}$ and $\mathcal{C}(U)_{w=0}$ are semi-primary, then so is $\mathcal{C}(S)_{w=0}$.

¹⁸Note that in our setting, this ideal will always be contained in $\operatorname{rad}_{\mathcal{C}(S)_{w=0}}$ ([Wil17, Cor. 1.5 (a)]).

Definition 3.1.3. Suppose that $\mathcal{C}(Z)_{w=0}$ is semi-primary. The *intermediate extension* is the fully faithful functor

$$j_{!*}: \mathcal{C}(U)_{w=0} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{C}(S)_{w=0}^u$$

corresponding to the functor $(id_{\mathcal{C}(U)_{w=0}}, 0)$ under the equivalence of categories (3.1.2.a).

It follows from its very definition that the motivic intermediate extension functor $j_{!*}$ enjoys the following property ([Wil17, Summary 2.12 (b)]):

Proposition 3.1.4. Consider the notation and the assumptions of the previous definition. Then, any object M of $\mathcal{C}(S)_{w=0}$ is isomorphic to a direct sum $j_{!*}M_U \oplus i_*N$, for an object M_U of $\mathcal{C}(U)_{w=0}$ and an object N of $\mathcal{C}(Z)_{w=0}$. The object M_U is such that $j^*M \simeq M_U$ (hence unique up to unique isomorphism) and N is unique up to an isomorphism, which becomes unique in $\mathcal{C}(Z)_{w=0}^u$.

Remark 3.1.5. It is believed that for any S, the heart CHM(S) of the motivic weight structure on $DM_c(S, \mathbb{Q})$ is semi-primary (cfr. [Wil17, Conj. 3.4]). This conjecture is at the moment completely out of reach, but it would permit, by choosing as $\mathcal{C}(\cdot)$ the whole of the categories $DM_c(\cdot, \mathbb{Q})$, to define (up to non-unique isomorphism) the intermediate extension to S of any Chow motive on U.

3.2. Semi-primary categories of Chow motives. The aim of this section is to single out some subcategories of Chow motives which can actually be shown to be semi-primary and which will be suited for our geometric applications. We will adapt Wildeshaus' methods from [Wil17], in order to show semiprimality of subcategories which are different¹⁹ from the ones considered in *op. cit.*.

Fix a scheme S admitting a good stratification \mathfrak{S} , i.e. such that S may be written as a finite (set-theoretic) disjoint union $\bigsqcup_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}} S_{\sigma}$ of locally closed subschemes such that the closure $\overline{S_{\sigma}}$ of each stratum S_{σ} is a union of strata.

We make the following assumption on our good stratification:

Assumption 3.2.1. For all $\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}$, the strata S_{ϕ} are nilregular²⁰, with nilregular closure.

Fix a stratum S_{σ} and consider the categories $\text{DM}_{\text{sm}}^{\mathcal{A}\text{T}}(S_{\sigma}, \mathbb{Q})$ introduced in Definition 2.4.1.

Definition 3.2.2. The category of *tamely ramified* smooth Artin-Tate motives over S_{σ} is the category $\mathrm{DM}_{\mathrm{sm}}^{\mathrm{A}_{\mathrm{tr}}\mathrm{T}}(S_{\sigma},\mathbb{Q})$ obtained by choosing $\mathcal{A} = \mathrm{A}_{\mathrm{tr}}$, where A_{tr} is the full subcategory of direct factors of objects corresponding to finite étale morphisms $q: X_{S_{\sigma}} \to S_{\sigma}$ which are *tamely ramified in codimension 1* ([dJ, 57.31, tag 0BSE])).

Remark 3.2.3. In the previous definition, suppose that S_{σ} is a scheme of characteristic zero. Then any finite étale morphism with target S_{σ} is tamely ramified in codimension 1, and the category $\mathrm{DM}_{\mathrm{sm}}^{\mathrm{Atr}\mathrm{T}}(S_{\sigma},\mathbb{Q})$ equals $\mathrm{DM}_{\mathrm{sm}}^{\mathrm{AT}}(S_{\sigma},\mathbb{Q})$.

Theorem 3.2.4. Let S be a scheme with a good stratification \mathfrak{S} satisfying Assumption 3.2.1. Then:

 $^{^{19}}$ See Rmk. 3.2.11 for a comment on these differences.

 $^{^{20}\}mathrm{I.e.},$ the underlying reduced scheme is regular.

(1) the categories $\mathrm{DM}_{\mathrm{sm}}^{\mathrm{A}_{\mathrm{tr}}\mathrm{T}}(S_{\sigma},\mathbb{Q})$ of tamely ramified smooth Artin-Tate motives over $S_{\sigma}, \sigma \in \mathfrak{S}$, can be glued to give a full, triangulated sub-category $\mathrm{DM}_{\mathrm{tr}}^{\mathrm{AT}}(\mathfrak{S})$ of $\mathrm{DM}_{c}(S,\mathbb{Q})$, called the category of \mathfrak{S} -constructible tamely ramified Artin-Tate motives over S. This subcategory is dense.

(2) Let $M \in DM_c(S, \mathbb{Q})$. Then the following conditions are equivalent.

(a) $M \in \mathrm{DM}_{\mathrm{tr}}^{\mathrm{AT}}(\mathfrak{S}).$

(b) $j^*M \in \mathrm{DM}^{\mathrm{A}_{\mathrm{tr}}\mathrm{T}'}_{\mathrm{sm}}(S_{\sigma}, \mathbb{Q})$ for all $\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}$, where j denotes the immersion $S_{\sigma} \hookrightarrow S$. (c) $j^!M \in \mathrm{DM}^{\mathrm{A}_{\mathrm{tr}}\mathrm{T}}_{\mathrm{sm}}(S_{\sigma}, \mathbb{Q})$ for all $\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}$.

In particular, the triangulated category $\mathrm{DM}^{\mathrm{AT}}_{\mathrm{sm}}(S,\mathbb{Q})$ of smooth Artin-Tate motives over S is contained in $\mathrm{DM}^{\mathrm{AT}}_{\mathrm{tr}}(\mathfrak{S})$.

(3) The category $DM_{tr}^{AT}(\mathfrak{S})$ is pseudo-abelian.

Proof. One proceeds by induction on the number of strata. If there is only one stratum, all claims are trivial, except for the last claim of part (1) and for part (3). Of course, it suffices to prove part (3). But in the case we are treating, the category in question is just $\text{DM}_{\text{sm}}^{\text{AT}}(S, \mathbb{Q})$, and it has been shown in the proof of Thm. 2.4.3 that this category has a (bounded) weight structure whose heart is pseudo-abelian. Hence (by [Bon10, Lemma 5.2.1]), the category $\text{DM}_{\text{sm}}^{\text{AT}}(S, \mathbb{Q})$ itself is pseudo-abelian.

As for the induction step, we have that the theorem is true for the complement Z of any open stratum U, with its stratification \mathfrak{S}_Z , by the induction hypothesis. Write j_U , resp. i_Z , for the open, resp. locally closed immersion of U, resp. Z, in S.

In order to prove (1), we will prove that the criterion given by [Wil17, Prop. 4.1. (a)] is satisfied; it says that $\mathrm{DM}_{\mathrm{sm}}^{\mathrm{A}_{\mathrm{tr}}\mathrm{T}}(U,\mathbb{Q})$ and $\mathrm{DM}_{\mathrm{tr}}^{\mathrm{A}_{\mathrm{T}}}(\mathfrak{S}_{Z})$ can be glued if and only if for all objects $M \in \mathrm{DM}_{\mathrm{sm}}^{\mathrm{A}_{\mathrm{tr}}\mathrm{T}}(U,\mathbb{Q})$, $i_{Z}^{*}j_{U,*}M$ belongs to $\mathrm{DM}_{\mathrm{tr}}^{\mathrm{A}_{\mathrm{T}}}(\mathfrak{S}_{Z})$. For this, we can suppose that the closure of U in S is the whole of S, that S is connected, and that S and Z are regular (and not just nilregular, cfr. Assumption 3.2.1). Then, we take a direct factor M_U of some motive $h_U(X_U/U)$, with $q: X_U \to U$ finite étale and tamely ramified in codimension 1. Suppose now that Z is of codimension 1 in S. Then by [dJ, Lem. 57.31.5, tag 0EYH], the normalization $q': X \to S$ of S in X_U is a finite morphism such that the restriction of X to U is isomorphic to X_U and such that $Z' := ((q')^{-1}(Z))_{red}$ is an effective Cartier divisor which is a regular scheme. This shows that X is regular, because otherwise, any singular point of X would lie in Z', and by a standard argument, it would be a singular point of Z'. We can now apply absolute purity to the closed immersion $Z' \hookrightarrow X$, and by proper base change and the fact that q' induces an isomorphism $Z' \simeq Z$, we get that for any $p \in \mathbb{Z}$, both $i_Z^! h_S(X/S)(p)$ and $i_Z^* h_S(X/S)(p)$ belong to $\mathrm{DM}_{\mathrm{tr}}^{\mathrm{AT}}(\mathfrak{S}_Z)$. Now, again using proper base change, we see that $i_Z^* j_{U,*} h_U(X_U/U)(p)$ is a cone of the canonical morphism $i_Z^{*}h_S(X/S)(p) \to i_Z^{*}h_S(X/S)(p)$. Hence, it belongs to $\mathrm{DM}_{\mathrm{tr}}^{\mathrm{AT}}(\mathfrak{S}_Z)$. But the latter category is dense by the induction hypothesis, so $i_Z^* j_{U,*} M_U(p)$ belongs to it as well. This means that the functor $i_Z^* j_{U,*}$ maps the generators of $\mathrm{DM}_{\mathrm{sm}}^{\mathrm{A}_{\mathrm{tr}}\mathrm{T}}(U,\mathbb{Q})$ to $\mathrm{DM}_{\mathrm{tr}}^{\mathrm{AT}}(\mathfrak{S}_Z)$. As a consequence, the whole of $\mathrm{DM}_{\mathrm{sm}}^{\mathrm{At}_{\mathrm{tr}}\mathrm{T}}(U,\mathbb{Q})$ is mapped to the latter category under $i_Z^* j_{U,*}$, and the criterion is fulfilled.

If Z is of codimension ≥ 2 in S, then q extends to a finite étale morphism $q': X \to S$ by purity of the branch locus (see [dJ, Lem. 53.20.4, tag 0BMB]) and we conclude by reasoning as above.

The proof of the remaining points carries over word by word from the proof of the analogous points in [Wil17, Thm. 4.5]. \Box

Let us now set up a slightly different notation, in order to treat the more general geometric situations which we are interested in. Suppose that S is equipped with a good stratification, denoted from now on by Φ . The subcategories we are interested in will depend on the choice of a proper morphism $\pi : S' \to S$ from a scheme S'which admits a good stratification \mathfrak{S} , such that the preimage via π of any stratum of Φ is a union of strata (i.e. π is a morphism of good stratifications). Whenever Tis a subscheme of S, we will denote by \mathfrak{S}_T the stratification induced by \mathfrak{S} on S'_T .

It will be necessary to make the following assumptions on the nature of the stratifications \mathfrak{S} and Φ and of the morphism π :

Assumption 3.2.5. (cfr. [Wil17, Ass. 5.6])

(1) the good stratification \mathfrak{S} on S' satisfies Assumption 3.2.1;

(2) for all $\phi \in \Phi$, the strata S_{ϕ} are nilregular;

(3) the morphism π is surjective, and for all $\phi \in \Phi$ and $\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}$ such that S'_{σ} is a stratum of $\pi^{-1}(S_{\phi})$, the morphism $\pi_{\sigma} : S'_{\sigma} \to S_{\phi}$ is proper with geometrically connected fibres, smooth, and such that the motive $h(S'_{\sigma}/S_{\phi})$ belongs to the category of Tate motives over S_{ϕ} .

Remark 3.2.6. Since we ask π_{σ} to be proper and smooth, the previous assumption actually implies that $h(S'_{\sigma}/S_{\phi})$ belongs to the category of weight zero, smooth Tate motives over S_{ϕ} .

Fix a morphism $\pi: S' \to S$ of good stratifications Φ and \mathfrak{S} , satisfying Assumption 3.2.5.(1).

Definition 3.2.7. The category $\text{DM}_{\text{tr}}^{\text{AT}}(\mathfrak{S}/\Phi)$ is the pseudo-abelian completion of the strict, full, \mathbb{Q} -linear triangulated subcategory of $\text{DM}_c(S, \mathbb{Q})$ generated by the images under π_* of the objects of $\text{DM}_{\text{tr}}^{\text{AT}}(\mathfrak{S})$.

Suppose moreover that Assumption 3.2.5.(2) is satisfied. Then, reasoning in the same way as in the proof [Wil17, Cor. 4.11], we see:

Lemma 3.2.8. (1) The restriction of the motivic weight structure on $DM_c(S, \mathbb{Q})$ induces a bounded weight structure on $DM_{tr}^{AT}(\mathfrak{S}/\Phi)$. For $\pi = id$, this gives a bounded weight structure on $DM_{tr}^{AT}(\mathfrak{S})$.

(2) The heart of the above weight structure on $\mathrm{DM}_{\mathrm{tr}}^{\mathrm{AT}}(\mathfrak{S}/\Phi)$ is the pseudo-Abelian completion of the strict, full, \mathbb{Q} -linear additive subcategory of $\mathrm{DM}_c(S,\mathbb{Q})$ generated by the images under π_* of the objects of the heart of the weight structure on $\mathrm{DM}_{\mathrm{tr}}^{\mathrm{AT}}(\mathfrak{S})$.

Definition 3.2.9. The heart of the weight structure on $DM_{tr}^{AT}(\mathfrak{S}/\Phi)$ given by the preceding Lemma is denoted by $AT_{tr}(\mathfrak{S}/\Phi)$.

Now we can finally state the result that we want to employ.

Theorem 3.2.10. Let $\pi: S' \to S$ be a proper morphism of good stratifications \mathfrak{S} , Φ satisfying Assumption 3.2.5. Then, the category $\operatorname{AT}_{\operatorname{tr}}(\mathfrak{S}/\Phi)$ is semi-primary.

Proof. By Thm. 3.2.4 and proper base change (cfr. the analogous [Wil17, Cor. 4.10 (b)]), the category $\mathrm{DM}_{\mathrm{tr}}^{\mathrm{AT}}(\mathfrak{S}/\Phi)$ is obtained by gluing the categories $\mathrm{DM}_{\mathrm{tr}}^{\mathrm{AT}}(\mathfrak{S}_{S_{\phi}}/S_{\phi})$ for all $\phi \in \Phi$. Hence, to prove our claim, it is enough to prove semi-primality of $\mathrm{AT}_{\mathrm{tr}}(\mathfrak{S}_{S_{\phi}}/S_{\phi})$ for each stratum S_{ϕ} and then to apply Thm. 3.1.2.(2) iteratively.

We first observe that by Lemma 3.2.8.(2), the category $\operatorname{AT}_{\operatorname{tr}}(\mathfrak{S}_{S_{\phi}}/S_{\phi})$ is the pseudo-Abelian completion of the strict, full, Q-linear triangulated subcategory of

 $\mathrm{DM}_c(S_{\phi})$ of objects, which are isomorphic to images under π_{σ} of tamely ramified Artin-Tate motives over S'_{σ} , for $\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}$ such that S'_{σ} is a stratum of $\pi^{-1}(S_{\phi})$. This implies that, by reasoning as in [Will7, Thm. 5.4], the claim will follow as soon as we prove that the objects of the latter form are *finite dimensional* in the sense of Kimura.

Choose a couple of strata $\pi_{\sigma} : S'_{\sigma} \to S_{\phi}$ as above and take a tamely ramified finite étale morphism $q: D \to S'_{\sigma}$. The Stein factorization of the morphism $\pi_{\sigma} \circ q$ gives rise to a commutative diagram



where p is proper with connected fibres and r is finite étale. Moreover, the fiber of r over each point s of S_{ϕ} is in set-theoretic bijection with the set of connected components of the fiber of $\pi_{\sigma} \circ q$ over s. Thus, because of our assumption 3.2.5.(3) on the properties of π_{σ} , the degree of r is the same as the degree of q, say equal to d. We get a diagram



where q' is finite étale of degree d, so that ι has to be finite étale of degree 1, i.e. it embeds D as a connected component of $\tilde{S}_{\phi} \times_{S_{\phi}} S'_{\sigma}$. Call the latter scheme D'. Then, using proper base change and the fact that q' and r are finite étale, we get

$$h(D'/\tilde{S}_{\phi}) = p'_* \mathbb{1}_{D'} \simeq p'_* q'^* \mathbb{1}_{S'_{\sigma}} \simeq r^* \pi_{\sigma,*} \mathbb{1}_{S'_{\sigma}} = r^* h(S'_{\sigma}/S_{\phi})$$

Since $h(S'_{\sigma}/S_{\phi})$ belongs to the category of weight zero, smooth Tate motives over S_{ϕ} (again by Assumption 3.2.5.(3) and Rem. 3.2.6), we obtain that $h(D'/\tilde{S}_{\phi})$ belongs to the category of weight zero, smooth Tate motives over \tilde{S}_{ϕ} . The motive $h(D/\tilde{S}_{\phi})$, being a direct factor of $h(D'/\tilde{S}_{\phi})$, belongs to the same category as well. Now $h(D/S_{\phi})$ is isomorphic to the direct image of $h(D/\tilde{S}_{\phi})$ under the finite étale morphism r, and as a consequence, it is actually a weight zero, smooth Artin-Tate motive over S_{ϕ} . As such, it is indeed finite dimensional (apply for example [Will7, Prop. 5.8 (c)]). As the objects we were interested in are direct factors of objects of the form $h(D/S_{\phi})$, we conclude.

Remark 3.2.11. (1) If we relax point (3) of Assumption 3.2.5 by asking that $h(S'_{\sigma}/S_{\phi})$ be simply *finite dimensional*, the proof of the above theorem carries through, with the following adjustments. First, one exploits the commutative diagram coming from the Stein factorization and invokes proper base change and [Wil17, Prop. 5.8]

(a)] in order to show that $h(D/\tilde{S}_{\phi})$ is also finite dimensional. Then, one shows that the same holds for $h(D/S_{\phi})$, by applying [Wil17, Prop. 5.8 (c)].

(2) The above theorem differs in the following way from the analogous Thm. 5.4 in [Wil17]. On the one hand, in order to deal with the gluing, we are forced to be more restrictive on the choice of possible morphisms $S' \to S$. In fact, we ask for regularity of the closure of the strata of S', whereas in *loc. cit.*, it is only asked the weaker condition that for every immersion i_{σ} of a stratum S'_{σ} in the closure of a stratum, the functor $i_{\sigma}^{!}$ send the unit object to a Tate motive. Moreover, the morphisms π_{σ} in *loc. cit.* can belong to a more general class than the one considered here. On the other hand, our stronger restrictions are necessary because, for a fixed S' which fulfils our requirements, the categories that we glue along the strata of S' are more general than the ones of *loc. cit.*

The proof of the above theorem shows in particular that for each $\phi \in \Phi$, denoting by Z_{ϕ} the complement of a stratum S_{ϕ} in its closure $\overline{S_{\phi}}$, the category $\operatorname{AT}_{\operatorname{tr}}(\mathfrak{S}_{Z_{\phi}}/Z_{\phi})$ is semiprimary. So we get:

Corollary 3.2.12. Let $\pi : S' \to S$ be a proper morphism of good stratifications \mathfrak{S} and Φ , satisfying Assumption 3.2.5. For each $\phi \in \Phi$, denote by $j_{\phi} : S_{\phi} \to \overline{S_{\phi}}$ the open immersion of a stratum in its closure. Then for each $\phi \in \Phi$, the intermediate extension functor

$$j_{\phi,!*} : \operatorname{AT}_{\operatorname{tr}}(\mathfrak{S}_{S_{\phi}}/S_{\phi}) \hookrightarrow \operatorname{AT}_{\operatorname{tr}}(\mathfrak{S}_{\overline{S_{\phi}}}/S_{\phi})^{u}$$

is defined (as in Def. 3.2.12).

Corollary 3.2.13. Let $\pi: S' \to S$ be a proper morphism of good stratifications \mathfrak{S} and Φ , satisfying Assumption 3.2.5. Let M be an object of the category $\operatorname{AT}_{\operatorname{tr}}(\mathfrak{S}/\Phi)$. Consider the notations of the previous Corollary, and denote moreover by $i_{\phi}: \overline{S_{\phi}} \hookrightarrow$ S the closed immersion of the closure of a stratum. Then, there exist a subset $\Phi' \subset \Phi$, objects N_{ϕ} in $\operatorname{AT}_{\operatorname{tr}}(\mathfrak{S}_{S_{\phi}}/S_{\phi}), \phi \in \Phi'$, and a non-canonical isomorphism

$$M \simeq \bigoplus_{\phi \in \Phi'} i_{\phi,*} j_{\phi,!*} N_{\phi}$$

Proof. We may always suppose, for simplicity, that there is only one open stratum $U := S_{\phi_1}$ of Φ , and denote j_{ϕ_1} by $j : U \hookrightarrow S$. By using Cor. 3.2.12 and applying Prop. 3.1.4, we know that we have an isomorphism

$$M \simeq j_{!*}M_U \oplus i_*N$$

with N an object of $\operatorname{AT}_{\operatorname{tr}}(\mathfrak{S}_Z/Z)$. By proper base change and part (2) of Thm. 3.2.4, and the fact that pullback along open immersions sends weight-zero objects to weight-zero objects, we know that the pullback of N to any stratum S_{ϕ} which is open in Z belongs to $\operatorname{AT}_{\operatorname{tr}}(\mathfrak{S}_{S_{\phi}}/S_{\phi})$. Thus, we can apply to it the functor $j_{\phi,!*}$ (defined using again Cor. 3.2.12). The statement then follows by an iterated application of Prop. 3.1.4.

Notations 3.2.14. To ease notation, in future applications we will often write j_{ϕ} for the immersion $i_{\phi} \circ j_{\phi}$, and write $j_{\phi,!*}$ for the functors $i_{\phi,*}j_{\phi,!*}$ appearing in the decomposition of the previous Corollary.

3.3. Compatibility with realizations and conservativity. In this paragraph, we will fix a generic point $\operatorname{Spec}(k) \to S$ of our base S, and we will make use of the two realization functors with target the categories $\operatorname{D}_c^b(S_{k,\mathrm{\acute{e}t}},\mathbb{Q}_\ell)$ and $\operatorname{D}_c^b(S_k^{\mathrm{an}},\mathbb{Q})$, obtained by composition with base change through $\operatorname{Spec}(k) \to S$ from the functors ρ_ℓ , ρ_B introduced in the "Notations and conventions" section. Whenever we employ one of these two functors, we will implicitly assume that the hypotheses on S and ℓ are satisfied. These functors will still be denoted by the same symbols.

Let us denote any of the two families of categories $D_c^b(S_{k,\text{ét}}, \mathbb{Q}_\ell)$ and $D_c^b(S_k^{\text{an}}, \mathbb{Q})$ by the same symbol $D_c^b(S_k)$. Both families of categories are equipped with a perverse *t*-structure, whose heart (the corresponding category of *perverse sheaves*) will be denoted $\text{Perv}_c(S_k)$ in both cases. We will then denote by

$$H^m : \mathcal{D}^b_c(S_k) \to \operatorname{Perv}_c(S_k)$$

the perverse cohomology functors, and if $j: U \hookrightarrow S$ is an open immersion, by

$$j_{!*}: \operatorname{Perv}_c(U_k) \to \operatorname{Perv}_c(S_k)$$

the *intermediate extension* of perverse sheaves ([BBD82a, Déf. 1.4.22]). The composition of the collection of the perverse cohomology functors with one of the realization functors will be called the corresponding *perverse cohomological realization* functor.

The following result gives the compatibility of the functor of Def. 3.2.12 (when available) with the realization functors:

Theorem 3.3.1. Let $\pi : S' \to S$ be a proper morphism of good stratifications \mathfrak{S} and Φ , satisfying Assumption 3.2.5. Denote by ρ any of the two realization functors ρ_{ℓ} or ρ_B . For each $\phi \in \Phi$, denote by $j_{\phi} : S_{\phi} \hookrightarrow \overline{S_{\phi}}$ the open immersion of a stratum in its closure. Then:

(1) for any $\phi \in \Phi$, for any integer m, the restriction of the composition

$$H^m \circ \rho : \mathrm{DM}_c(\overline{S_\phi}, \mathbb{Q}) \to \mathrm{Perv}_c(\overline{S_\phi}_k)$$

to $\operatorname{AT}_{\operatorname{tr}}(\mathfrak{S}_{\overline{S_{\phi}}}/\overline{S_{\phi}})$ factors over $\operatorname{AT}_{\operatorname{tr}}(\mathfrak{S}_{\overline{S_{\phi}}}/\overline{S_{\phi}})^{u}$; (2) for any $\phi \in \Phi$, for any integer m, the diagram

$$\begin{array}{c|c} \operatorname{AT}_{\operatorname{tr}}(\mathfrak{S}_{S_{\phi}}/S_{\phi}) \xrightarrow{j_{\phi}, !*} \operatorname{AT}_{\operatorname{tr}}(\mathfrak{S}_{\overline{S_{\phi}}}/\overline{S_{\phi}})^{u} \\ & & \downarrow \\ H^{m} \circ \rho \\ & & \downarrow \\ \operatorname{Perv}_{c}(S_{\phi,k}) \xrightarrow{j_{1*}} \operatorname{Perv}_{c}(\overline{S_{\phi}}_{k}) \end{array}$$

commutes.

Proof. The same proof of [Wil17, Thm. 7.2] applies. Indeed, the only ingredient occurring in that proof, which has to be generalized, is *op. cit.*, Cor. 7.13: we need to obtain an analogous statement in our situation, i.e. we need to show that the radical (cfr. Def. 3.1.1) of our categories $\operatorname{AT}_{\operatorname{tr}}(\mathfrak{S}_{\overline{S_{\phi}}}/\overline{S_{\phi}})$ is mapped to zero under the perverse cohomological realization. The proof of Thm. 3.2.10 tells us that over each stratum S_{ϕ} of S, the category $\operatorname{AT}_{\operatorname{tr}}(\mathfrak{S}_{S_{\phi}}/S_{\phi})$ is actually contained in the category $\operatorname{AT}(S_{\phi})$ of weight zero, smooth Artin-Tate motives over S_{ϕ} . Then, the same strategy of proof of *op. cit.*, Cor. 7.13, based on *op. cit.*, Thm. 7.12,

shows that we can obtain the desired statement as soon as we prove the following claim: for any couple of finite étale morphisms

$$q_1: D_1 \to X, \ q_2: D_2 \to X$$

the ideal

$$\operatorname{rad}_{\operatorname{CHM}(X)}(h_X(D_1), h_X(D_2))$$

consists of morphisms which are mapped to zero under the perverse cohomological realization. Now, by the same reasoning as in the proof of *loc. cit.*, Thm. 7.12, we may assume that X is the spectrum of a field k. But then, $h_X(D_1)$ and $h_X(D_2)$ are Artin motives over k, i.e. objects of a full *semisimple* subcategory of CHM(X) = CHM(k). Hence, the radical in question is zero.

We end this section by discussing the conservativity of the restriction of the realization functors to the categories $DM_{tr}^{AT}(\mathfrak{S}/\Phi)$.

Theorem 3.3.2. Let $\pi : S' \to S$ be a proper morphism of good stratifications \mathfrak{S} and Φ , satisfying Assumption 3.2.5. Denote by ρ any of the two realization functors ρ_{ℓ} or ρ_B . Then, the restriction of ρ to $\mathrm{DM}_{\mathrm{tr}}^{\mathrm{AT}}(\mathfrak{S}/\Phi)$,

$$\rho: \mathrm{DM}^{\mathrm{AT}}_{\mathrm{tr}}(\mathfrak{S}/\Phi) \to \mathrm{D}^{b}_{c}(S_{k})$$

is conservative.

Proof. We will adopt the strategy of [Wil18, Thm. 4.3], which adapts to our setting and shows that conservativity of both realizations (ℓ -adic and Betti) can be deduced if the following properties hold²¹: (1) the weight structure on $DM_{tr}^{AT}(\mathfrak{S}/\Phi)$ is bounded, (2) its heart $AT_{tr}(\mathfrak{S}/\Phi)$ is semi-primary and pseudo-Abelian, (3) the restriction of ρ to $AT_{tr}(\mathfrak{S}/\Phi)$ maps the radical to zero, and (4) zero is the only object of $AT_{tr}(\mathfrak{S}/\Phi)$ mapped to zero by ρ . The first two properties have been verified before (Lemma 3.2.8 and Thm. 3.2.10), and property (3) has been seen to hold in the course of the proof of Thm. 3.3.1. With this in our hands, we can imitate step by step the proof of *op. cit.*, Thm. 4.2 to show that property (4) is also verified and to conclude. In fact, to argue as in *loc. cit.* we only need the existence of the intermediate extension functor defined in Cor. 3.2.12, the fact that objects in $AT_{tr}(\mathfrak{S}/\Phi)$ decompose as direct sums of intermediate extensions (Cor. 3.2.13), and the finite dimensional nature of the objects of the categories $AT_{tr}(\mathfrak{S}_{S_{\phi}}/S_{\phi})$ (proof of Thm. 3.2.10).

4. MOTIVIC DECOMPOSITIONS OF PROJECTIVE QUADRIC BUNDLES

4.1. Corti-Hanamura decomposition of general quadrics.

4.1.1. In this section we work over a field k of characteristic zero. Let V be a k-vector space of dimension n. A quadratic form $Q \in S^2 V^{\vee}$ can be viewed as a symmetric map $Q: V \to V^{\vee}$. Its radical is the subspace $\operatorname{Rad}(Q) = \ker(Q)$. It is known from the theory of quadratic forms that Q descends to a symmetric bilinear form \overline{Q} on the quotient space $\overline{V} = V/\operatorname{Rad}(Q)$ (cf. [Cas78, 2.6]). We say that Q has corank r if dim(Rad(Q)) = r. The zero locus of Q defines a quadric $X \subset \mathbb{P}(V)$

²¹These are precisely all of the assumptions which are shown to be sufficient for conservativity in *op. cit.*, Thm. 2.10, except for one: *strictness* of any morphism in the image of the perverse cohomological realization, with respect to the *weight filtration* of the latter functor. Only the ℓ -adic realization is known to satisfy this last assumption. Building on this, Thm. 4.3 of *loc. cit.* then shows how to obtain conservativity for the Betti realization, too.

which is smooth if and only if r = 0. If r > 0 its singular locus is the linear subspace $\Lambda = \mathbb{P}(\operatorname{Rad}(Q))$, and X is a cone with vertex Λ over the smooth quadric $\overline{X} = V(\overline{Q}) \subset \mathbb{P}(\overline{V}) \cong \mathbb{P}_k^{n-r-1}$.

Let

$$\Delta_k = \{ Q \in S^2 V^{\vee} | \dim(\ker Q) \ge k \}$$

be the space of quadratic forms of corank $\geq k$. The standard desingularization of Δ_k is

$$\widehat{\Delta}_k = \{ (Q, F) \in S^2 V^{\vee} \times G(k, V) | F \subset \ker Q \}.$$

For our purposes it is convenient to use a slightly different construction. We denote by Fl(V) = Fl(1, ..., n-1, V) the variety of complete flags

$$F_1 \subset \ldots \subset F_{n-1} \subset F_n = V$$

where $\dim(F_i) = i$. Define

$$\widetilde{\Delta}_k = \{ (Q, F_{\bullet}) \in S^2 V^{\vee} \times \operatorname{Fl}(V) | F_k \subset \ker Q \}.$$

The fiber of the projection map $p_2 : \widetilde{\Delta}_k \to \operatorname{Fl}(V)$ over F_{\bullet} is the vector space $H^0(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{I}_{\mathbb{P}(F_k)}(2))$. Hence $\widetilde{\Delta}_k$ is smooth. The advantage over the previous construction is that we have inclusions

$$\widetilde{\Delta}_{k+1} \subset \widetilde{\Delta}_k \subset \operatorname{Fl}(V)$$

for all k.

4.1.2. We now discuss the analogue of these constructions in the relative case. Let S be a quasi-projective scheme over k. Let E be a rank n vector bundle over S, and let L be a line bundle over S. A quadratic form on E with values in L is a global section $q \in H^0(S, S^2 E^{\vee} \otimes L)$, or equivalently a symmetric homomorphism

$$q: E \to E^{\vee} \otimes L.$$

Let $\rho : \mathbb{P}(E) \to S$ be the associated projective bundle with tautological line bundle $\xi_E = \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(1)$. Using the isomorphism

$$H^0(S, S^2 E^{\vee} \otimes L) \cong H^0(\mathbb{P}(E), \xi_E^2 \otimes \rho^* L)$$

we can identify q with a global section (still denoted by q) of $\xi_E^2 \otimes \rho^* L$. The associated quadric bundle is $X = V(q) \subset \mathbb{P}(E)$. The fiber of $f: X \to S$ over $s \in S$ is the zero locus of $q(s) \in S^2 E_s^{\vee} \otimes L_s$.

We write

$$\Delta_i(q) = \{ s \in S | \operatorname{corank} q(s) \ge i \}, \quad U_i = \Delta_i(q) \setminus \Delta_{i+1}(q).$$

The restriction of q to U_i defines a homomorphism of vector bundles

$$q_i: E_i \to E_i^{\vee} \otimes L_i$$

whose kernel $F_i = \ker(q_i)$ is a subbundle of E_i of rank *i*. As before, the quadratic form q_i descends to a quadratic form \overline{q}_i on the quotient $\overline{E}_i = E_i/F_i$. Geometrically this means that the subscheme $X_i = f^{-1}(U_i)$ is a relative cone over $\overline{X}_i = V(\overline{q}_i) \subset$ $\mathbb{P}(\overline{E}_i)$ with vertex $\mathbb{P}(F_i)$ i.e., for every $s \in U_i$ the quadric $X_s = f^{-1}(s)$ is a cone with vertex $\mathbb{P}(F_{i,s})$ over $\overline{X}_s \subset \mathbb{P}(\overline{E}_{i,s})$. Let $\operatorname{Fl}(E)$ be the bundle of complete flags in E with projection map $\pi : \operatorname{Fl}(E) \to S$. The vector bundle π^*E has a flag of universal subbundles S_i of rank $i, i = 1, \ldots, n-1$. The composition of

$$\pi^*q:\pi^*E\to\pi^*E^\vee\otimes\pi^*L$$

and the inclusion $\lambda_i : S_i \to \pi^* E$ defines

$$\widetilde{q}_i = \pi^*(q) \circ \lambda_i : S_i \to \pi^* E^{\vee} \otimes \pi^* L.$$

Define

$$\widetilde{\Delta}_i(q) = V(\widetilde{q}_i) \subset \operatorname{Fl}(E).$$

Proposition 4.1.3. If $E^{\vee} \otimes E^{\vee} \otimes L$ is generated by global sections and $q \in H^0(X, S^2 E^{\vee} \otimes L)$ is general, then

- (1) $\Delta_i(q)$ is empty or has the expected codimension $\binom{i+1}{2}$ and $\operatorname{Sing}(\Delta_i(q)) = \Delta_{i+1}(q)$.
- (2) $\widetilde{\Delta}_i(q)$ is smooth.

Proof. Note that if $E^{\vee} \otimes E^{\vee} \otimes L$ is generated by global sections, then the bundles $S^2 E^{\vee} \otimes L$, $\pi^*(E^{\vee} \otimes E^{\vee} \otimes L)$ and $S_i^{\vee} \otimes \pi^* E^{\vee} \otimes \pi^* L$ are globally generated. Part 1 is proved by adapting the argument of [B91, 4.1] to the symmetric case; cf. [Ott95, 2.17]. Part 2 follows from Bertini's theorem.

Definition 4.1.4. We say that $X \to S$ is a *regular* quadric bundle if it satisfies the conditions of the Proposition 4.1.3.

A quadric bundle $f: X \to S$ admits a natural stratification by corank. Write $U_i = \Delta_i(q) \setminus \Delta_{i+1}(q), X_i = f^{-1}(U_i)$. As the stratification $\Phi = \{U_i\}_{i \in I}$ does not verify Assumption 1, we have to pass to a suitable base change and verify Assumption 2. Define $S' = \operatorname{Fl}(E)$ and consider the stratification \mathfrak{S} given by $U'_i = \widetilde{\Delta}_i(q) \setminus \widetilde{\Delta}_{i+1}(q)$. Write $X' = X \times_S S'$ and $X'_i = X_i \times_{U_i} U'_i$.

Lemma 4.1.5. Let $X \to S$ be a regular quadric bundle. Then the stratification $\mathfrak{S} = \{U'_i\}_{i \in I}$ satisfies Assumption 3.2.5.

Proof. Proposition 4.1.3 implies that the stratification \mathfrak{S} satisfies conditions (1) and (2) of Assumption 3.2.5. The definition of $\widetilde{\Delta}_i(q)$ shows that the fiber of π_i : $\widetilde{\Delta}_i(q) \to \Delta_i(q)$ over $s \in \Delta_i(q)$ is

$$\{(W_{\bullet}) \in \operatorname{Fl}(E_s) | W_i \subset \ker q(s)\}.$$

If $s \in U_i$ then ker(q(s)) has dimension i, hence the fiber of the induced map $U'_i \to U_i$ over $s \in U_i$ is

$$\{(W_{\bullet}) \in \operatorname{Fl}(E_s) | W_i = \ker(q(s)) \cong \operatorname{Fl}(\ker(q(s)) \times \operatorname{Fl}(i+1,\ldots,n,E_s)).$$

Over U_i we have an injective homomorphism of flag bundles

$$\operatorname{Fl}(F_i) \times \operatorname{Fl}(i+1,\ldots,n;E_i) \to \operatorname{Fl}(E_i)$$

whose image is U'_i . Hence $U'_i \to U_i$ is a relative homogeneous space and $h_{U_i}(U'_i)$ is a relative Tate motive. This implies that the stratification \mathfrak{S} also satisfies condition (3) of Assumption 3.2.5.

Theorem 4.1.6. Let $X \to S$ be a regular quadric bundle. Then $h_S(X) \in \operatorname{AT}_{\operatorname{tr}}(\mathfrak{S}/\Phi)$.

30

Proof. We consider the stratifications Φ and \mathfrak{S} introduced above and write $X_i = f^{-1}(U_i)$, $X'_i = X_i \times_{U_i} U'_i$. As we have seen before, X_i is a relative cone over \overline{X}_i with vertex $\mathbb{P}(F_i)$. The complement $V_i = X_i \setminus \mathbb{P}(F_i)$ is a locally trivial fiber bundle over \overline{X}_i with affine fibers.²² A similar result holds after base change via $\pi_i : U'_i \to U_i$: X'_i contains the projective bundle $\mathbb{P}(F'_i)$, where $F'_i = \pi^*_i(F_i)$, and the projection of the complement $V'_i = X'_i \setminus \mathbb{P}(F'_i)$ to U'_i factors as $V'_i \stackrel{\rho_i}{\to} \overline{X}'_i \stackrel{\sigma_i}{\to} U'_i$ where ρ_i is a locally trivial fiber bundle with affine fibers and σ_i is a smooth quadric bundle. Hence $h^c_{U'_i}(V'_i) \cong h_{U'_i}(\overline{X}'_i)(-i)[-2i]$. As we have seen in Corollary 2.5.13, the motive $h_{U'_i}(\overline{X}'_i)$ is either a relative Tate motive or a relative Artin-Tate motive associated to a double étale covering $Z(\overline{X}'_i) \to U'_i$. The latter case arises if n - i is even, say n - i = 2m. In this case the double covering $Z(\overline{X}'_i) \to U'_i$ is tamely ramified by Remark 3.2.3. As $h_{U'_i}(\mathbb{P}(F'_i))$ is a relative Tate motive, the localisation triangle

$$h^{c}_{U'_{i}}(V'_{i}) \to h_{U'_{i}}(X'_{i}) \to h_{U'_{i}}(\mathbb{P}(F'_{i})) \to h^{c}_{U'_{i}}(V'_{i})[1]$$

then shows that $h_{U'_i}(X'_i) \in \mathrm{DM}^{\mathrm{A}_{\mathrm{tr}}\mathrm{T}}_{\mathrm{sm}}(U'_i,\mathbb{Q})$ for all *i*. As the map $h_{U'_i}(\mathbb{P}(F'_i)) \to h^c_{U'_i}(V'_i)[1]$ is zero for weight reasons, it follows that $h_{U'_i}(X'_i)$ has weight zero. Hence $h_{S'}(X') \in \mathrm{DM}^{\mathrm{AT}}_{\mathrm{tr}}(\mathfrak{S})$ thanks to part (2) of Thm. 3.2.4 and has weight zero by the gluing property of motivic weights.

As $S' = \operatorname{Fl}(E) \xrightarrow{\pi} S$ is a relative homogeneous space we have

$$\pi_* \mathbb{1}_{S'} \cong \mathbb{1}_S \oplus \big(\bigoplus_{i:n_i > 0} \mathbb{1}_S(-n_i)[-2n_i] \big).$$

By the projection formula we obtain

$$\pi_* h_{S'}(X') = \pi_* \pi^* h_S(X) \cong h_S(X) \oplus \big(\bigoplus_{i:n_i > 0} h_S(X)(-n_i)[-2n_i]\big).$$

Hence $h_S(X) \in DM_{tr}^{AT}(\mathfrak{S}/\Phi)$. Since proper morphisms respect weights and $h_{S'}(X')$ is of weight zero, $\pi_*h_{S'}(X')$ is of weight zero, as well as any of its direct factors. So $h_S(X) \in AT_{tr}(\mathfrak{S}/\Phi)$.

Corollary 4.1.7. A regular quadric bundle $X \to S$ admits a CH-decomposition (see Def. 2.2.1).

Proof. By Corollary 3.2.13 every object M of the category $\operatorname{AT}_{\operatorname{tr}}(\mathfrak{S}/\Phi)$ admits a decomposition

$$M \simeq \bigoplus_{\phi \in \Phi'} i_{\phi,*} j_{\phi,!*} N_{\phi}$$

with N_{ϕ} in $\operatorname{AT}_{\operatorname{tr}}(\mathfrak{S}_{S_{\phi}}/S_{\phi})$. The proof of Theorem 3.2.10 shows that $N_{\phi} \in \operatorname{DM}_{\operatorname{sm}}^{\operatorname{AT}}(S_{\phi}, \mathbb{Q})$. Using Theorem 2.4.3 we obtain a decomposition

$$N_{\phi} \simeq \bigoplus_{i,\phi \in I_{\phi}} \rho_!(V_{i,\phi})(n_{i,\phi})[2n_{i,\phi}]$$

²²In fact, if $\pi_i : \mathbb{P}(E_i) \to U_i$ is the projection map and if one chooses local trivialisations $F_i|_U \cong W \otimes \mathcal{O}_U$, $E_i|_U \cong V \otimes \mathcal{O}_U$ over an open subset $U \subset U_i$ then $V_i \cap \pi_i^{-1}(U)$ is the total space of the vector bundle $\mathcal{O}_U(-1) \oplus W \otimes \mathcal{O}_U$; cf. [EH16, 9.3.2]

with $V_{i,\phi}$ a simple Artin representation of $\pi_1(S_{\phi})$. Taking $M = h_S(X)$ we get

$$h_S(X) \simeq \bigoplus_{i,\phi} i_{\phi,*} j_{\phi,!*}(\rho_!(V_{i,\phi})(n_{i,\phi}))[2n_{i,\phi}]$$

which is a decomposition of $h_S(X)$ into simple objects of weight zero. Applying the realisation functor ρ_B and using Thm. 3.3.1, we obtain a decomposition of $Rf_*\mathbb{Q}_X$ into a sum of simple objects in $D^b_c(S,\mathbb{Q})$. The decomposition theorem of Beilinson-Bernstein-Deligne gives isomorphisms

$$Rf_*\mathbb{Q}_X \simeq \bigoplus_k {}^p R^k f_*\mathbb{Q}_X[-k] \simeq \bigoplus_{k,\lambda} i_{\lambda,*} j_{\lambda,!*}(L_{k,\lambda})[-k]$$

where $L_{k,\lambda}$ is a local system on S_{λ} . Since the simple objects appearing in this decomposition are unique, we conclude that they are realisations of Chow motives. Hence $X \to S$ admits a Corti-Hanamura decomposition.

Remark 4.1.8. Our proof gives a more precise statement: $h_S(X)$ is a direct sum of motivic intermediate extensions of Artin-Tate motives of degree at most 2, hence $Rf_*\mathbb{Q}_X$ decomposes as a sum of intersection complexes of local systems whose monodromy is either trivial or $\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$. This has been observed in the example of regular conic bundles over a surface [NS09]. In this case

$$Rf_*\mathbb{Q}_X \simeq \mathbb{Q}_S \oplus \mathbb{Q}_S[-2] \oplus i_*L[-1]$$

where L is a local system on the smooth discriminant curve $\Delta \subset S$. The underlying motivic decomposition is

$$h_S(X) \simeq \mathbb{1}_S \oplus \mathbb{1}_S(-1)[-2] \oplus \operatorname{Prym}(\widetilde{\Delta}/\Delta)(-1)[-2]$$

where $\operatorname{Prym}(\widetilde{\Delta}/\Delta)$ is the Prym motive, an Artin-Tate motive of degree 2.

4.2. Corti-Hanamura decomposition of quadric bundles with normal crossing discriminant.

4.2.1. The aim of this final section is to show that given the previous results, it is also quite immediate to get a Corti-Hanamura decomposition for a class of quadric bundles $f: X \to S$ over a field k of characteristic zero, which don't satisfy anymore the regularity assumption. We will instead suppose that the discriminant locus $i: D \hookrightarrow S$ of f is a normal crossing divisor. To fix our conventions, this means that D is a finite union of irreducible components

$$D = \bigcup_{i \in I} D_i$$

such that for each finite subset $J \subseteq I$, the underlying reduced scheme of the scheme $D_J := \bigcap_{j \in J} D_j$ is regular.

Fix now an ordering D_{J_1}, \ldots, D_{J_r} of the set $\{D_J\}_{J\subseteq I}$, in such a way that the function dim D_{J_i} is (non-strictly) increasing with respect to *i*, and pose the following:

Definition 4.2.2. The stratification \mathfrak{S} of *S* is the one obtained by choosing, for each $\sigma \in \mathfrak{S} := \{1, \ldots, r\}$,

$$S_{\sigma} := D_{J_{\sigma}} \setminus (\bigcup_{k=1,\cdots,\sigma-1} D_{J_k})$$

Note that the above defined \mathfrak{S} is a well-defined stratification (i.e., the closure of each stratum is a union of strata). Then, it is clear from the definitions that we have:

Lemma 4.2.3. The stratification \mathfrak{S} satisfies Assumption 3.2.1.

Hence, we can define the full, triangulated subcategory $\text{DM}_{\text{tr}}^{\text{AT}}(\mathfrak{S})$ of $\text{DM}_{c}(S)$ as in Thm. 3.2.4.

Theorem 4.2.4. Let $X \to S$ be a quadric bundle whose discriminant is a divisor with normal crossings. Then, the motive $h_S(X)$ belongs to the category $\operatorname{AT}_{\operatorname{tr}}(\mathfrak{S})$.

Proof. For each $\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}$, the fibers of $X_{S_{\sigma}}$ over S_{σ} have constant corank. Hence, the same computation as in the proof of Thm. 4.1.6 shows that $h_{S_{\sigma}}(X_{S_{\sigma}})$ belongs to $\mathrm{DM}_{\mathrm{sm}}^{\mathrm{A}_{\mathrm{tr}}\mathrm{T}}(S_{\sigma},\mathbb{Q})$ for each $\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}$, and gives the conclusion. \Box

Finally, the proof of Corollary 4.1.7 can be repeated in order to show:

Corollary 4.2.5. A quadric bundle $X \to S$ whose discriminant is a divisor with normal crossings admits a CH-decomposition.

We present an example where several nonconstant intersection motives appear in the decomposition. First we need a Lemma.

Lemma 4.2.6. Let $\pi : S' \to S$ be a finite morphism. Write $U' = \pi^{-1}(U)$, $\pi' = \pi|_{U'}$ and let $j : U \to S$, $j' : U' \to S$ be the inclusions. If F is a perverse sheaf on U'then

$$j_{!*}(\pi'_*F) \simeq \pi_*(j'_{!*}(F)).$$

Proof. As π and π' are finite morphisms, the functors π_* and π'_* are t-exact for the perverse t-structure [BBD82b, Cor. 2.2.6 (i)]. The result then follows from the isomorphisms

$$\pi_* \circ j'_* \simeq j_* \circ \pi'_*, \quad \pi_* \circ j'_! \simeq j_! \circ \pi'_*$$

using [loc.cit., 1.3.17 (iv) and 1.4.16].

Example 4.2.7. Let r be a nonnegative integer. Given a (r+1)x(2n+3) matrix $A = (a_{ij})$ we define quadrics

$$Q_i = \{ x \in \mathbb{P}^{2n+2} | \sum_j a_{ij} x_j^2 = 0 \} \subset \mathbb{P}^{2n+2}, \ i = 0, \dots, r.$$

The quadric bundle associated to the linear system of quadrics spanned by Q_0, \ldots, Q_r is $f: X \to \mathbb{P}^r$ with

$$X = \{(x,\lambda) \in \mathbb{P}^{2n+2} \times \mathbb{P}^r | \sum_{i,j} \lambda_i a_{ij} x_j^2 = 0 \}.$$

The fiber Q_{λ} of f over $\lambda = (\lambda_0 : \ldots : \lambda_r) \in \mathbb{P}^r$ is the zero locus of

$$q_{\lambda} = \sum_{j} (\sum_{i} a_{ij} \lambda_i) x_j^2.$$

If A is a generic matrix, the discriminant locus of f is a simple normal crossing divisor which is the union of 2n + 3 hyperplanes: $\Delta = D_0 \cup \ldots \cup D_{2n+2}$ where

$$D_j = \{\lambda \in \mathbb{P}^r | \sum_i a_{ij}\lambda_i = 0\}, \quad j = 0, \dots, 2n+2.$$

By the previous Corollary $f : X \to S$ admits a CH-decomposition. We shall show that it contains several nonconstant intersection motives by looking at the topological realisation. Write $d_X = \dim X = 2n + r + 1$. By the decomposition theorem ²³

$$Rf_*(\mathbb{Q}_X[d_X]) \simeq \bigoplus_{i=-2n-1}^{2n+1} {}^pR^i f_*(\mathbb{Q}_X[d_X])[-i]$$

and the perverse direct images ${}^{p}R^{i}f_{*}(\mathbb{Q}_{X}[d_{X}])$ are direct sums of intermediate extensions. By the perverse versions of the Lefschetz hyperplane theorem and the hard Lefschetz theorem we have

$${}^{p}R^{i}f_{*}(\mathbb{Q}_{X}[d_{X}]) = \begin{cases} \mathbb{Q}[r] & i \neq 0, i \text{ even} \\ 0 & i \neq 0, i \text{ odd} \end{cases}.$$

hence

$$Rf_*\mathbb{Q}_X[d_X] \simeq \bigoplus_{k=-n}^n \mathbb{Q}[r-2k-1] \oplus {}^pR^0f_*(\mathbb{Q}_X[d_X]).$$

Write

$$\Delta_i = \cup_{j \neq i} D_i \cap D_j, \quad S_i = D_i \setminus \Delta_i.$$

If $\lambda \in S_i$ then Q_{λ} has an ordinary double point p_{λ} and Q_{λ} is a cone with vertex p_{λ} over a smooth quadric $\overline{Q_{\lambda}} \subset \mathbb{P}^{2n+1}$. Hence

$$R^{2n+2}f_*\mathbb{Q}|_{S_i} = \mathbb{Q} \oplus L_i$$

where L_i is a nontrivial rank one local system on S_i with monodromy $\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$. The decomposition theorem then shows that

$$R^{2n+2}f_*\mathbb{Q}|_{S_i} = \mathcal{H}^{-r+1}(Rf_*\mathbb{Q}_X[d_X]|_{S_i}) = \mathbb{Q}[r-1] \oplus \mathcal{H}^{-r+1}({}^pR^0f_*(\mathbb{Q}_X[d_X]))$$

for all *i*. Thus, writing $j_{\alpha}: S_{\alpha} \to \mathbb{P}^r$ for the inclusion maps,

$${}^{p}R^{0}f_{*}(\mathbb{Q}_{X}[d_{X}]) \simeq \bigoplus_{\alpha=0}^{\infty} (j_{\alpha})_{!*}(L_{\alpha}) \oplus R$$

where R is a perverse sheaf supported in codimension ≥ 2 . Hence the CH-decomposition of $X \to S$ is of the form

$$h_S(X) \simeq \bigoplus_{k=0}^n \mathbb{1}(-k)[-2k] \oplus \bigoplus_{i=0}^r M_i \oplus M$$

where $\rho(M) = R$ and $\rho(M_i) = j_{!*}(L_i)$ for all *i*.

Remark 4.2.8. In the case r = 2 there is a direct construction of the motive M_i underlying the intermediate extension of L_i . In this case $D_i \cong \mathbb{P}^1$ and $\Delta_i \subset D_i$ is a set of 2n + 2 points. Let $D'_i \to D_i$ be the double covering ramified along Δ_i . Then D'_i is a smooth hyperelliptic curve of genus n. Applying the previous lemma to the diagram

$$\begin{array}{c} S'_i \stackrel{j'}{\longrightarrow} D'_i \\ \downarrow^{\pi'} \qquad \downarrow^{\pi} \\ S_i \stackrel{j}{\longrightarrow} D_i \end{array}$$

²³For ease of comparison with the existing literature we have adopted the usual convention of shifting by d_X .

we obtain $\pi_*(j'_{!*}\mathbb{Q}) \simeq \mathbb{Q} \oplus j_{!*}(L_i)$ since $\pi'_*\mathbb{Q} \simeq \mathbb{Q} \oplus L_i$.

If we denote τ the hyperelliptic involution on D'_i , the intermediate extension $j_{!*}(L_i)$ is the realisation of the Prym motive $M_i = (D'_i, \frac{1}{2}(\tau^* + \mathrm{id}))$.

It is not clear whether there exists a similar description of the motives M_i if r > 2. In this case the variety D'_i is singular, hence M_i should be constructed as a suitable direct factor of the "intersection motive" of D'_i .

Remark 4.2.9. If we take n = 0 and r = 2 in the example above (conic bundles over \mathbb{P}^2) the result follows from [NS09] (The result in [loc.cit.] is more general and applies to conic bundle over a surface with a reducible discriminant locus that is not necessarily a simple normal crossing divisor.)

References

- [ADN20] Aravind Asok, Frédéric Déglise, and Jan Nagel, The homotopy Leray spectral sequence, Motivic homotopy theory and refined enumerative geometry, Contemp. Math., vol. 745, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, [2020] ©2020, pp. 21–68. 12
- [AGV73] M. Artin, A. Grothendieck, and J.-L. Verdier, Théorie des topos et cohomologie étale des schémas, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, vol. 269, 270, 305, Springer-Verlag, 1972– 1973, Séminaire de Géométrie Algébrique du Bois-Marie 1963–64 (SGA 4). 14
- [APS15] A. Auel, R. Parimala, and V. Suresh, Quadric surface bundles over surfaces, Doc. Math. Extra Vol. (2015), 31–70 (English). 8
- [Ayo10] J. Ayoub, Note sur les opérations de Grothendieck et la réalisation de Betti, J. Inst. Math. Jussieu 9 (2010), no. 2, 225–263. 4, 9
- [BBD82a] A. Beilinson, J. Bernstein, and P. Deligne, *Faisceaux pervers*, Analysis and topology on singular spaces, I (Luminy, 1981), Astérisque, no. 100, Soc. Math. France, 1982, pp. 5–171. 5, 10, 27
- [BBD82b] A.A. Beilinson, J. Bernstein, and P. Deligne, Faisceaux pervers, Astérisque 100 (1982), 5–171. 6, 33
- [Bon10] M. Bondarko, Weight structures vs. t-structures: weight filtrations, spectral sequences, and complexes (for motives and in general), J. K-Theory 6 (2010), 387–504. 23
- [Bon15] Mikhail V. Bondarko, Mixed motivic sheaves (and weights for them) exist if 'ordinary' mixed motives do, Compos. Math. 151 (2015), no. 5, 917–956. 6, 11, 12
- [Bou16] Johann Bouali, Motives of quadric bundles, Manuscripta Math. 149 (2016), no. 3-4, 347–368. MR 3458173 6
- [B91] Constantin Bănică, Smooth reflexive sheaves, Proceedings of the Colloquium on Complex Analysis and the Sixth Romanian-Finnish Seminar, vol. 36, 1991, pp. 571–593. MR 1172165 30
- [Cas78] J. W. S. Cassels, Rational quadratic forms, London Mathematical Society Monographs, vol. 13, Academic Press, Inc. [Harcourt Brace Jovanovich, Publishers], London-New York, 1978. MR 522835 28
- [Cav19] M. Cavicchi, On the boundary and intersection motives of genus 2 Hilbert-Siegel varieties, Doc. Math. 24 (2019), 1033–1098.
- [CD16] Denis-Charles Cisinski and Frédéric Déglise, Étale motives, Compos. Math. 152 (2016), no. 3, 556–666. 4, 9
- [CD19] D.-C. Cisinski and F. Déglise, Triangulated categories of mixed motives, Springer Mono. in Math., Springer Int. Pub., 2019. 9, 10, 11, 13, 14, 18, 19
- [CH00] Alessio Corti and Masaki Hanamura, Motivic decomposition and intersection Chow groups. I, Duke Math. J. 103 (2000), no. 3, 459–522. MR 1763656 3, 6, 11
- [Cis19] D.-C. Cisinski, Cohomological methods in intersection theory, arXiv: 1905.03478v2, 2019. 11
- [dCM10] Mark Andrea A. de Cataldo and Luca Migliorini, The perverse filtration and the Lefschetz hyperplane theorem, Ann. of Math. (2) 171 (2010), no. 3, 2089–2113. MR 2680404 11
- [dJ] A. (maintainer) de Jong, *Stacks project*, https://stacks.math.columbia.edu/. 22, 23
- [DK73] P. Deligne and N. Katz, Groupes de monodromie en géométrie algébrique (SGA 7 II), vol. 340, Springer, 1973 (French). 20

- [DM91] C. Deninger and J. Murre, Motivic decomposition of abelian schemes and the Fourier transform, J. Reine Angew. Math. 422 (1991), 201–219. 11
- [EH16] David Eisenbud and Joe Harris, 3264 and all that—a second course in algebraic geometry, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2016. MR 3617981 31
- [GHM03] B. Brent Gordon, Masaki Hanamura, and Jacob P. Murre, Relative Chow-Künneth projectors for modular varieties, J. Reine Angew. Math. 558 (2003), 1–14. MR 1979179 6, 11
- [hb] Kevin Buzzard (https://mathoverflow.net/users/1384/kevin buzzard), Smooth proper scheme over z, MathOverflow, URL:https://mathoverflow.net/q/9605 (version: 2009-12-23). 20
- [Héb11] D. Hébert, Structure de poids à la Bondarko sur les motifs de Beilinson, Composito Mathematica 147 (2011), no. 5, 1447–1462 (French, with English summary). 10, 11
- [Jin16] F. Jin, Borel-moore motivic homology and weight structure on mixed motives, Math. Zeit. 283, Issue 3-4 (2016), 1149–1183. 4
- [Kim09] Shun-ichi Kimura, Surjectivity of the cycle map for Chow motives, Motives and algebraic cycles, Fields Inst. Commun., vol. 56, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2009, pp. 157–165. MR 2562457 3
- [MSS12] Stefan Müller-Stach and Morihiko Saito, Relative Chow-Künneth decompositions for morphisms of threefolds, J. Reine Angew. Math. 666 (2012), 141–161. MR 2920884 11
- [MV99] F. Morel and V. Voevodsky, A¹-homotopy theory of schemes, Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. (1999), no. 90, 45–143 (2001). MR 1813224 (2002f:14029) 10
- [NS09] Jan Nagel and Morihiko Saito, Relative Chow-Künneth decompositions for conic bundles and Prym varieties, Int. Math. Res. Not. IMRN (2009), no. 16, 2978–3001. MR 2533794 6, 32, 35
- [Org04] Fabrice Orgogozo, Isomotifs de dimension inférieure ou égale à un, Manuscripta Math. 115 (2004), no. 3, 339–360.
- [Ott95] G. Ottaviani, Varietà proiettive di codimensione piccola, 1995. 30
- [Sch90] A. J. Scholl, Motives for modular forms, Invent. Math. 100 (1990), no. 2, 419–430. MR 1047142 6
- [Via13a] Charles Vial, Algebraic cycles and fibrations, Doc. Math. 18 (2013), 1521–1553. MR 3158241 4
- [Via13b] _____, Projectors on the intermediate algebraic Jacobians, New York J. Math. 19 (2013), 793–822. MR 3141813 3
- [VSF00] V. Voevodsky, A. Suslin, and E. M. Friedlander, Cycles, transfers and motivic homology theories, Annals of Mathematics Studies, vol. 143, Princeton Univ. Press, 2000. 13
- [Wil09] J. Wildeshaus, Chow motives without projectivity, Compos. Math. 145 (2009), no. 5, 1196–1226. MR 2551994 16
- [Wil12] _____, Motivic intersection complex, Regulators, Contemp. Math., vol. 571, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2012, pp. 255–276. MR 2953419 16, 17
- [Wil16] _____, Notes on Artin-Tate motives, Autour des motifs—École d'été Franco-Asiatique de Géométrie Algébrique et de Théorie des Nombres/Asian-French Summer School on Algebraic Geometry and Number Theory. Vol. III, Panor. Synthèses, vol. 49, Soc. Math. France, Paris, 2016, pp. 101–131. 15
- [Wil17] _____, Intermediate extensions of Chow motives of abelian type, Adv. Math. (2017), no. 305, 515–600. 6, 7, 17, 21, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27

[Wil18] _____, Weights and conservativity, Alg. Geom. (2018), no. 6, 686-702. 28 Email address: cavicchi@unistra.fr

IRMA (UMR7501), 7 RUE RENÉ-DESCARTES 67084 STRASBOURG CEDEX; FRANCE

Email address: frederic.deglise@ens-lyon.fr

CNRS, IMB (UMR5569), ENS de Lyon, UMPA; 46 allée d'Italie 69364 Lyon Cedex 07; France

Email address: johannes.nagel@u-bourgogne.fr

IMB (UMR5584), CNRS, UNIVERSITÉ BOURGOGNE-FRANCHE-COMTÉ; 9 AVENUE ALAIN SAVARY 21000 DIJON CEDEX; FRANCE